University of Central Florida STARS

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2017

A Major DNA Double Strand Repair Pathway and Cancer-Associated Circulating Proteins are Effecters of Epigenetic Revision.

Brittany Allen University of Central Florida

Part of the Biology Commons Find similar works at: https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd University of Central Florida Libraries http://library.ucf.edu

This Doctoral Dissertation (Open Access) is brought to you for free and open access by STARS. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of STARS. For more information, please contact STARS@ucf.edu.

STARS Citation

Allen, Brittany, "A Major DNA Double Strand Repair Pathway and Cancer-Associated Circulating Proteins are Effecters of Epigenetic Revision." (2017). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 5436. https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd/5436

A MAJOR DOUBLE STRAND REPAIR PATHWAY AND CANCER-ASSOCIATED CIRUCULATING PROTEINS ARE EFFECTERS OF EPIGENETIC REVISION

by

BRITTANY N. ALLEN B.S. University of Florida, 2012

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Burnett School of Biomedical Sciences in the College of Medicine at the University of Central Florida Orlando, Florida

Spring Term 2017

Major Professor: Michal Masternak

©2017 Brittany Allen

ABSTRACT

DNA methylation is a vital epigenetic process that acts as a major control mechanism for gene expression. In addition to its essential role in many normal cellular processes, it is also implicated in a wide variety of disease states and processes including cancer. Along with genetic mutations, aberrant DNA methylation patterns, specifically the inappropriate DNA methylation or demethylation of CpG residues, may activate oncogenes or suppress tumor suppressor genes, respectively. These changes can generate or facilitate the progression of tumorigenesis and tend to accumulate throughout the development of cancer. Although they play such a major role in cancer and in other diseases, it remains unclear what causes these epigenetic revisions to occur. This dissertation will focus on uncovering mechanisms that are sources of epigenetic revision, specifically as they relate to cancer.

Due to rapid cell division and increased DNA damage, cells are increasingly dependent on DNA repair as they continue on a path of tumorigenic progression. We hypothesize that DNA repair, specifically the repair of DNA double strand breaks (DSB) by Non-Homologous End Joining (NHEJ) may play a role in inappropriate epigenetic revision. Using a GFP reporter system inserted into the genome of HeLa cells, we are able to induce targeted DNA damage that enables the cells, after successfully undergoing NHEJ repair, to express WT GFP. These GFP+ cells were segrega ted into two expression classes, one with robust expression (Bright) and the other with reduced expression (Dim). Using a DNA hypomethylating drug (AzadC) we were able to demonstrate that the different GFP expression levels was due to differential methylation statuses of CpGs in regions on either side of the break site. Deep sequencing analysis of this area in sorted Bright and Dim populations revealed a collection of different epi-alleles that display patterns of DNA methylation following repair by NHEJ. These patterns differ between Bright and Dim cells which are hypo- and hypermethylated, respectively, and between the post-repair populations and the original, uncut cells. These data suggest that NHEJ repair facilitates a rewrite of the methylation landscape in repaired genes, elucidating one potential source for the altered methylation patterns seen in cancer cells.

The Dim cells generated during this study are known to have a hypermethylated GFP gene that is correlated with reduced expression, allowing it to be used as a screening tool for hypomethylating agents. We used this tool to screen the blood serum of patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC). We found that the serum from HNSCC patients, but not from healthy individuals, contains some factor that causes hypomethylation in exposed cells. Further, we were able to identify this factor as a protein capable of effecting changes in DNA methylation, gene expression, and miRNA levels in the treated Dim cells. The novel concept presented in this study has immense implications on the study of cancer progression as it evidences circulating proteins, presumably released by cancer cells, which are able to effect gene expression in cells that are distal to the location of the cancer. Further, the fact that these proteins are in circulation makes them a potential target for use in diagnostics.

Changes in DNA methylation play a major role in the development of cancer and understanding the mechanisms by which this occurs could provide new therapeutic targets for preventing this process from contributing to tumorigenesis. This dissertation presents potential sources of epigenetic revision in cancer and thus provides answers to a major question that has yet to be answered in the area of cancer research.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First, I would like to thank my mentors, Dr. Michal Masternak and Dr. Mark Muller for their guidance and support throughout my graduate studies. Next, I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Annette Khaled, Dr. Jihe Zhao, and Dr. Shadab Siddiqi for their comments and advice for developing and presenting my project. I am grateful for all of those who helped me with techniques, equipment, and materials over the course of my graduate career and for my fellowships, the Chatlos Doctoral Fellowship and the Graduate Dean's Dissertation Fellowship, for supporting my research endeavors.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURESxi
LIST OF TABLES
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION1
Epigenetics1
DNA methylation
DNA methylation in cancer
Coordination of genetic and epigenetic processes
CHAPTER TWO:
Introduction5
DNA damage and repair5
Methylation, repair, and HDR6
Materials and Methods
Cell culture
Stable cell line
Tet On promoter activation
FACS analysis
Live-Cell Imaging9
Drug treatments

Cell sorting	10
Bisulfite Converted DNA preparation	10
Bisulfite Sequencing	11
Methylation analysis	11
Results	12
A neutral reporter system for analysis of epigenetic revision during NHEJ	12
A segregation of expression classes following repair by NHEJ	13
GFP Expression is heterogeneous in repaired cell populations following NHEJ	14
Different DNA methylation patterns mark Recombinant from Uncut cells	17
Discussion	19
Epigenetic revision as a component of tumorigenesis	19
A new pathway for discovery of novel epi-therapeutic targets	20
Intragenic DNA methylation and gene silencing	21
CHAPTER THREE:	41
Introduction	41
Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma	41
The role of DNA methylation in HNSCC	41
Circulating oncogenic agents in serum	42
Materials and Methods	43

Generation of the Dim HeLa cell line	43
Human blood serum collection	
Cell culture	44
HNSCC serum treatments	
AzadC treatment	45
FACS analysis	45
Exosome depletion	45
RNase A digestion	
Proteinase K digestion	46
Human serum fractionation	46
Statistical analysis of fluorescence intensity changes	
Results	
Circulating hypomethylating agents in HNSCC serum	
Identifying the type of hypomethylating agent in HNSCC serum	49
Discussion	
Cancer cells may induce epigenetic changes in distant cells	50
Mechanisms of DNA demethylation	51
Potential identities of the unknown protein	
CHAPTER FOUR	69

Introduction	69
MiRNAs in cancer	69
miRNAs in HNSCC	
Materials and Methods	
Human blood serum collection	
Cell culture	71
HNSCC serum treatments	71
miRNA Extraction	71
miRNA library preparation and sequencing	72
Target and Pathway analysis of miRNA-seq	72
Real Time PCR	73
Statistical analysis of relative gene expression	74
Results	74
HNSCC patient serums alter the miRNA profile of treated cells	74
Key pathways are targeted by differentially expressed miRNAs	75
Other critical genes are affected by exposure to HNSCC serum	75
Discussion	76
Differentially expressed miRNAs are involved in cancer pathways	
HNSCC serum promotes a tumorigenic expression profile in exposed cells	77

CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSIONS	86
Summary	86
Conclusions	86
Interconnections between gene regulation processes	86
Identifying new targets for cancer epi-therapeutics	87
LIST OF REFERENCES	88

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Reporter construct integrated into the genome of the IHN20.22 HeLa cell line
Figure 2. Generation of GFP positive cells following repair
Figure 3. Time course analysis of GFP expression
Figure 4. Live-cell imaging of GFP expression
Figure 5. Histogram of GFP+ cells after induction with dox with gating for Bright and Dim
populations
Figure 6. Hypomethylation by 5'Aza-2'-deoxycitidine
Figure 7. Characterization of the effect of hypomethylation by AzadC on the GFP expression level
in post-repair cells
Figure 8. The effect of AzadC treatment on post-repair cells
Figure 9. The effect of AzadC concentration on GFP expression class populations
Figure 10. Treatment of sorted populations with AzadC
Figure 11. Live-cell imaging of Dim and Bright cells
Figure 12. Bisulfite Sequencing of sorted Dim and Bright cells
Figure 13. Profile composition of Bright, Dim, and Uncut cell populations
Figure 14. Principal coordinate analysis of Bright, Dim and Uncut populations
Figure 15. Shannon diversity index between Bright, Dim and Uncut populations
Figure 16. Gain or loss of methylation in Bright and Dim populations compared to the Uncut
population
Figure 17. FACS analysis of Dim HeLa cells grown in FBS 54
Figure 18. FACS of Dim HeLa cells treated with HNSCC patient serum: Responders 55

Figure 19. FACS histograms of Dim HeLa cells treated with normal human serum
Figure 20. FACS histograms of Dim HeLa cells treated with HNSCC patient serum: Partial
Responders
Figure 21. FACS histograms of Dim HeLa cells treated with HNSCC serum: Non-Responders 58
Figure 22. Statistical analysis of the effect of normal human and HNSCC patient serum on GFP
expression in Dim HeLa cells
Figure 23. Treatment with human serum followed by recovery in FBS
Figure 24. Degradation of RNA in HNSCC serum
Figure 25. Statistical analysis of the effect of RNA degradation on the hypomethylating effects of
HNSCC patient serum
Figure 26. Treatment of Dim HeLa cells with exosome depleted human serum
Figure 27. Statistical analysis of the effect of exosome depletion on the hypomethylating effects of
HNSCC serum
Figure 28. Degradation of protein in human serum
Figure 29. Statistical analysis of the effect of protein degradation on the hypomethylating effects of
HNSCC serum
Figure 30. Filtration of HNSCC serum into fractions with differing protein sizes
Figure 31. Filtration of healthy human serum into fractions with differing protein sizes
Figure 32. Gene expression changes in cells exposed to HNSCC patient serum
Figure 33. KEGG pathway (152) analysis: Pathways in cancer

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Summary table of methylated profiles for region
Table 2. List of bisulfite sequencing primers
Table 3. List of miRNA differentially expressed between cells treated with healthy HNSCC patient
serum and with normal human serum
Table 4. Gene Ontology terms for biological processes of target genes of 16 miRNAs differentially
expressed in cells treated with serum from healthy individuals compared with HNSCC patients 80
Table 5. KEGG pathways of target genes of 16 miRNAs differentially expressed in cells treated with
serum from healthy individuals compared with HNSCC patients
Table 6. List of primers used to determine relative gene expression

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Epigenetics

An organism's characteristics are a result of two layers of information; the first is the message that is contained in their genetic code and the second is how that code is read and implemented. The study of the information contained in the genetic code is termed *genetics*, while the study of how the genetic information is expressed is termed *epigenetics*. Since all of an organism's cells contain the same genetic code (barring stochastic DNA mutations), it is epigenetics which ultimately shape the specific characteristics of a cell as they change and control gene expression levels.

This is accomplished by mechanisms that physically alter chromatic configuration to manage what genes are accessible to transcription machinery, including DNA methylation, histone modifications, or RNA-associated silencing. Genes that are available to transcription machinery are transcribed while those that are hidden are repressed, allowing cells with the same genetic makeup to have vastly different characteristics. Although epigenetic information is alterable, it is also heritable so that cells are able to produce daughter cells with the same gene expression profile. This process is essential for generating the different cell types with different functions that make up an organism.

DNA methylation

The first level of epigenetic regulation occurs by marking specific locations of the DNA strand itself using DNA methylation. DNA may be methylated on cytosine residues of CpG islands

by the catalytic activity of DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs). DNMTs catalyze the addition of a methyl group, which is donated by the cofactor S-adenosylmethionine (SAM), to the carbon at position 5 of the pyrimidine ring of cytosine residues to generate 5-methylcytosine (1). Methylation profiles are passed from parent to daughter cells by DNMT 1, a maintenance DNMT that copies methylation patterns of hemimethylated DNA from the template strand to the newly synthesized strand during DNA replication. DNMT3a and 3b act as de novo methyltransferases, adding methyl groups to previously unmethylated CpG residues. DNMT1 has also been shown to have some de novo methyltransferase activity under certain conditions (1,2).

DNA methylation may be classified as either invariant and stable (sex-specific imprinting) or metastable. In somatic cells, DNA methylation is metastable and changes with age (3), diet (4,5), environment (6), disease (7-10), or other external or intrinsic events (11). In these studies, we are examining somatic, metastable DNA methylation. This epigenetic modification is usually associated with gene silencing (12,13) as it interferes with transcription machinery and is recognized by proteins that recruit histone modifiers to condense chromatin, an action which blocks the accessibility of transcription machinery to the affected genes (14-16).

DNA methylation in cancer

Under normal conditions, epigenetic modifications serve to modulate gene expression during embryonic development (17) and genomic imprinting (18), differentiation (19), or in response to stimuli (20); however unscheduled changes in epigenetic modifications have been linked to numerous health conditions including neurodegenerative (9), cardiovascular (21), imprinting-related (22), and metabolic diseases (23) and are known to play a prominent role in the development of cancer. Incorrect revision of the normal epigenetic landscape can cause inappropriate gene silencing of tumor suppressor genes or activation of oncogenes, a phenomenon that is seen in various types of cancer cells (8,12,24,25).

Cancerous cells arise in a multi-step process as a result of an upset in the balance of oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes that causes deregulation of normal epistasis. This imbalance may derive from genetic mutations that affect this balance; however, changes in expression levels can also be caused by inappropriate DNA methylation marks. Moreover, the addition or removal of post-translational modifications to histones can affect the access of transcriptional machinery to particular genes by opening or closing the chromatin, causing gene activation or repression, respectively (13,24,26,27). Acetylation of histones, catalyzed by histone acetyltransferases (HATs) causes activation of genes by reducing the affinity of histones for DNA and by acting as a docking surface for other histone remodeling proteins (28). Histone deacetylases (HDACs), including Sirtuins, work in reverse to repress transcription along with histone methyltransferases (29).

Both hypermethylation and hypomethylation can contribute to tumorigenesis when they occur at inappropriate positions in the genome. DNA hypermethylation is generally associated with gene silencing while hypomethylated is associated with gene activation (8,24). Changes in the cellular DNA methylome resulting in hypermethylation of tumor suppressor genes including APC, BRCA1, E-cadherins, DAPK1, hMLH1, p15, Rb, MGMT, and p16INK4a have been documented in tumors from a variety of cancers including breast, colon, gastric, ovarian, lung, brain, ovarian, renal, kidney, prostate, thyroid, lymphoma, and leukemia (8,13,24). Hypomethylation has also been shown to contribute to tumorigenesis by over-activating oncogenes and contributing to genetic instability and structural changes by promoting an open chromatin state (8,30)

Coordination of genetic and epigenetic processes

Cancer cells coordinate genetic mutations and epigenetic revision in order to promote carcinogenesis. According to the two-hit hypothesis, a tumor suppressor gene must be deactivated in both alleles in order to cause cancer. HCT116 colon cancer cells were found to have genetic mutations in one allele of both CDKN2a and MLH1 and epigenetic silencing of the second allele, demonstrating the collaboration of genetic mutation and hypermethylation in achieving the second 'hit' to cause loss of heterozygosity and inactivation a tumor suppressor gene (8). Both hypermethylation and hypomethylation can also contribute to cancer progression by promoting mutagenic processes. This is observed in the silencing of genes involved in DNA repair via hypermethylation, which results in defective repair pathways and increased DNA mutagenesis (26,31). In addition, hypomethylation can cause over expression of an oncogene due to the loss of genomic imprinting that results in the expression of both alleles instead of only one allele (32,33), and hypomethylation of LINE retrotransposons facilitates insertion mutagenesis (34,35). Further, mutations or dysregulation of epigenetic regulation proteins can propagate DNA methylation changes in other areas of the genome.

Although DNA methylation changes are known to play a major role in the development and progression of cancer, the mechanism(s) involved in effecting these changes remain unresolved. It is the goal of this dissertation to investigate and identify sources that may generate and propagate epigenetic revision during the process of carcinogenesis.

CHAPTER TWO:

Introduction

DNA damage and repair

In order to pass the G2 checkpoint and enter mitosis, cells must repair any DNA damages that have occurred. Double stranded breaks in DNA (DSBs), in which breaks occur in both strands of the DNA double helix in close proximity to one another, are the most dangerous damage for a cell (36,37). These breaks can be caused by both exogenous and endogenous sources including reactive oxygen species, ionizing radiation (38), replication fork collapse (36,39), or the faulty action of nuclear enzymes such as topoisomerase II (40,41).

Regardless of origin, DSBs are fatal to the cell if not repaired. When faced with such a damage, the cell must repair the damage in order to survive or continue dividing (36). Double strand breaks are repaired by one of two pathways in Eukaryotic cells (42). During S and G2 phases of the cell cycle, when DNA has been replicated and exists in pairs of sister chromatids, the cell is able to fix the breaks with the high fidelity process of_Homology Dependent Repair (HDR) (43,44). This process involves resection of one strand of a broken end to produce a single stranded overhang that can invade the helix of the sister chromatid. Polymerase then uses the sister chromatid to fill in sequence on the broken ends and the strands are resolved to separate, complete sister chromatids (40,45).

During the rest of the cell cycle, or in non-dividing cells, no identical sequence template is available to allow HDR to proceed, so the cell turns to the faster but more error prone process of

Non-Homologous End Joining (NHEJ) (46,47). This process proceeds through recognition and binding of the broken ends by Ku 70-80 proteins and DNA-PKcs (48). Together, this complex has a role similar to that of Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (PCNA) during replication as it acts as a docking platform for other proteins. During repair, these other proteins are nuclease, polymerase, and ligase complexes needed to process the repair. The DNA-PKcs complex with Artemis has 3' and 5' endonuclease as well as 5' exonuclease activity, allowing it to process a diverse array of damaged DNA ends. Polymerases μ and λ are also able to interact with the complex, allowing flexible and template-independent synthesis. The processing of DNA ends during NHEJ is not fully understood and is not the same for each break; even identical breaks in the same location show variation in end processing (48). Blunted DNA ends are subsequently ligated through the action of XLF:XRCC4:DNA ligase IV complex. Although the immediate threat to the cell is averted by repair of the DSB, repair by NHEJ often results in deletions or frame shifts in the repaired area as a result of end processing. This process is a major source of DNA mutation in arrested cells (49). Despite its limitations, the quick kinetics and ability to repair without a template make NHEJ the repair pathway of choice in cells outside of S and G2 and in non-dividing cells. It is the predominant DSB repair pathway in animal cells since it occurs throughout the cell cycle (46,47).

Methylation, repair, and HDR

Studies of HDR have determined that, following repair, some cells exhibit robust expression of the repaired gene while others show low expression levels. It was determined that these expression classes arise as a result of epigenetic reprogramming, more specifically, altered CpG methylation at the repair site (50-52). In addition, specific DNA methyltransferases have been found to localize at DNA repair sites (50). During S phase, DNMT1 methylates hemimethylated DNA during replication, copying the methylation profile of the parental DNA strand to the daughter strand, a process which is also ongoing when DNA methylation is altered post-HDR (50,53). Thus, DNA methylation exists in a triad of dynamic, interworking processes along with DNA replication and HDR.

The mechanism for DNMT-mediated methylation at repair sites following NHEJ, which occurs independently of DNA replication, is less well understood despite being a prominent DNA repair pathway in animal cells. We address this topic in the current paper. Specifically, in this work, we report the following observations. First, NHEJ repair pathway attended by DNA methylation revision in somatic human cells. Second, specific methylation sites map on the repaired gene to sites that are distinctly different from those seen in the HDR pathway (50). Third, we show that epigenetic revisions driven by NHEJ are stably inherited. In this work, we used a neutral gene to report alterations in DNA methylation to ensure that selective pressure post repair would not influence our ability to track the NHEJ descendants. Collectively, the data supports the notion that the prominent DNA repair pathway in animal cells is a source of genetic diversity but also a source of epigenetic (or gene expression) change in cases where a wild type allele is recovered post-NHEJ.

Materials and Methods

Cell culture

The stable HeLa cell line was cultured in RPMI medium with L-glutamine and supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and 1% penicillin-streptomycin. Cells were grown in at 37°C at 5% CO_2 .

Stable cell line

HeLa cells were transfected with a Tet-On inducible gene expression system (Clontech) and set to target the I-Sce1 gene according to the Tet-On system manual. After generation of a stable Tet-On cell line, the cells were transfected with the GFP reporter construct for NHEJ provided by the Gorbunova lab (54). These cells were grown under selective pressure with Geneticin (G418) to generate the stable iHN20.22 cell line containing the reporter construct and a tetracycline inducible I-Sce1 gene.

Tet On promoter activation

IHN20.22 cells were treated with $1\mu g/mL$ doxycycline for varying durations to determine the optimal induction time. It was determined that a 24-hour pulse of doxycycline was sufficient to induce the NHEJ system, so this was used in future experiments.

FACS analysis

IHN20.22 cells were trypsinized and centrifuged at 1000xg for 5 minutes and then and resuspended in PBS at a density of 10^o cells/mL. Live cells were selected using a plot of SSC-A vs. FSC-A, and GFP positive cells were identified using a plot of FSC-A vs FL1A-A. The FL1-A histogram was then used to identify and gate the distinct populations of low and high expressing cells.

Live-Cell Imaging

Cells were seeded at low density in glass bottom culture dishes (MatTek) induced with Dox for 24 hours and then placed into an incubation chamber that is part of a Perkin Elmer UltraVIEW VoX 3D Live Cell Imaging System attached to a Zeiss Axio Observer Z1 inverted fluorescence microscope. Images were taken every 5 minutes for the next 48 hours and then analyzed using Volocity Imaging and Analysis software (Perkin Elmer).

Drug treatments

IHN20.22 cells were plated at low confluence and induced with doxycycline for 24 hours. After 24 hours, media was removed and replaced with fresh media and cells were given a daily dose of 1μ M 5-AzadC or 1% DMSO control for 48 hours (unless otherwise noted) and then were harvested for FACS analysis.

Cell sorting

Dox induced IHN 20.22 cells were treated with dox for 24 hours and then grown under normal culture conditions until the GFP expression levels stabilized. Cells were then harvested and re-suspended in median containing RPMI, 1% penicillin-streptomycin, 20mM Hepes buffer, and 2% FBS at a density of 3x10^o cells/mL. Cells were run through FACSAria flow cytometer and sorted by using the FSC-A and FITC-A plot to gate GFP positive cells and then using the histogram of FITC-A to select 'dim' and 'bright' populations. Two sorted populations (Bright and Dim) were collected in a tube containing media supplemented with 30% FBS and then transferred to culture dishes containing culture medium (RPMI supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% Penicillin-streptomycin) at 37°C at 5% CO₂.

Bisulfite Converted DNA preparation

Genomic DNA was extracted from iHN20.22 cells (uncut) as well as the sorted bright and dim populations using Wizard genomic DNA purification kit" (Promega). 100ng of extracted DNA was used for bisulfite conversion using the Epijet Bisulfite Conversion Kit (Thermoscientific). Regions on either side of the repair site in bisulfite converted DNA were amplified using Phusion U Hot Start Polymerase (Thermoscientific) and 5 sets of primers (Table 2). The 5 PCR fragments of each sample (uncut, sorted Dim, and sorted Bright) were purified using GENEjet PCR purification kit (Thermoscientific).

Bisulfite Sequencing

These samples were transferred to the core sequencing facility at Sanford Burnham at Lake Nona, Orlando Florida. Illumina's Truseq ChIP Library Preparation kit was used to prepare a total of 15 libraries (5 fragments each for 3 samples: uncut, sorted Dim, and sorted Bright) from 10ng of input DNA. Quality and quantity of the libraries were analyzed using an Agilent Bioanalyzer and Kapa Biosystems qPCR. The Multiplexed libraries were pooled and subjected to Paired-end 2x250bp sequencing using one flow-cell of a Miseq sequencing instrument.

Methylation analysis

FastQ files were subjected to quality check using FASTQC software

(http://www.bioinformatics.bbsrc.ac.uk/projects/fastqc). Then, paired-end reads from the sequencer platform were merged together using PEAR tool (55) with a minimum of 40 overlapping residues as threshold (mean PHREAD score of at least 33) and merged FastQ files were converted in Fasta using Prinseq (56). To analyze the methylation status of each amplicon, we used AMPLIMETHPROFILER (57) specifically designed for deep targeted bisulfite amplicon sequencing of multiple genomic regions. This pipeline is freely available at https://sourceforge.net/projects/amplimethprofiler and is organized as follows: first, it recognizes corresponding target region discarding PCR artifacts and reads that do not match expected lengths; then, reads are aligned to the corresponding bisulfite-converted reference using BLASTn (58). We used very stringent parameters: fragment length threshold, 50%; threshold alignment primers, 80%; bisulfite conversion efficiency, 99% and threshold alignment to reference, 50%. The pipeline output format reports the methylation status for each CpG dinucleotide coded 0 as non-methylated, 1 as methylated, and 2 if the methylation state cannot be assessed. We use this output to perform the analysis. Quantitative methylation average for each site is represented by the ratio between the number of non-converted bases at that site and the total number of mapped reads. The abundance of each of the 2NCpG distinct epialleles (where NCpG stands for the number of CpG sites in the analyzed region) was evaluated for each sample by counting the number of passing filter reads containing that epiallele. Qualitative methylation analysis was performed using Qiime (59), which includes: 1. a "summary", the number of profiles present in each input sample; 2. a "taxa_summary_plots", the information on the distribution of methylation profile classes; 3. "alpha diversity", the five alpha diversity metrics for each sample: a. number of different methylation profiles in the sample; b. shannon entropy; c. simpson index; d. Chao 1 index ; e. number of singletons. Such metrics were computed through a rarefaction procedure to take into account biases derived from variable sequencing depth and; 4. "beta Diversity", the distance between samples in terms of composition of their methylation profiles, measured by Bray–Curtis dissimilarity: 5. PCoA Principal Coordinates analysis.

Results

A neutral reporter system for analysis of epigenetic revision during NHEJ.

In order to study the NHEJ repair pathway, we have generated a HeLa cell line containing a GFP based reporter construct (54,60) (Figure 1). The construct contains a CMV driven GFP gene that was interrupted by a rodent Pem1 intron. Within this intron, an adenoviral exon was added that is flanked by two restriction sites for the megaendonuclease, I-Sce1. There are no I-Sce1 sites in the

human genome; Thus DSB are target to these twin sites. The presence of the viral exon disrupts the gene, and as a consequence, the cells are GFP negative; however, when I-SceI is introduced to the cells, the adenoviral exon is excised by two DSBs and repaired by NHEJ. Since removal of the exon allows the construct to generate WT GFP after splicing, cells have effectively undergone NHEJ repair and some sub-fraction of the cells will be GFP positive (since <u>NHEJ</u> is error prone, we cannot score mutant alleles with this assay based on GFP expression). In addition, there is no homologous DNA template for the repair event; therefore, this is a dedicated NHEJ repair process and HDR cannot proceed under these conditions. To improve accuracy and penetrance of the system, the gene for I-SceI gene has been placed in these HeLa cells under control of a Tet-On promoter, thus, the system is doxycycline inducible.

A segregation of expression classes following repair by NHEJ.

The NHEJ reporter system was tested by adding Doxycycline (Dox) to the media of the IHN20.22 HeLa cells. We note that other clones tested behaved similarly; however, some clones displayed higher backgrounds, probably due to leaky I-Sce1 expression in the absence of Dox. IHN20.22 was selected since this clone exhibited low levels of GFP positive cells in the absence of Dox. I-Sce1 induction was quite robust in IHN20.22 cells and within a few hours after Dox addition, Western blots showed the presence of prominent amounts of I-Sce1 protein (data not shown). At 24 hours post-Dox, GFP expressing cells could readily be seen by live imaging or fluorescent microscopy. GFP levels could also be measured using flow cytometry (Figure 2). The percentage of GFP positive cells steadily increases over time with continuous exposure to Doxycycline, while in negative controls (no Dox) the percentage of GFP positive cells stays well under 1% which we attribute to leakiness of the Tet-On promoter, as noted. After a 24-hour pulse with Dox, the percentage increases and then peaks at about 5-7% after four days (Figure 3). The emergence of GFP positive cells can be observed via live imaging during the 72 hours following induction with Doxycycline (Figure 4) as a GFP negative cell (circle, top image) undergoes NHEJ repair and begins to express WT GFP as time progresses to the second image. Since the post-repair cell now contains a WT GFP gene, division produces two GFP positive daughter cells in the last image. By limiting the expression of I-Sce1 to 24 hours, the pulse-chase experimental schematic allows for focused investigation of the processes that occur following a DSB without the added variables of continuous DSB induction and continuous Dox treatment. Note that the scatter plots in Figure 3 appear to contain dual populations of GFP positive cells (dashed rings). The two populations, which appear to differ in total GFP expression levels were more clearly observable a fter Dox induction with I-Sce1; however, in the negative controls, this heterogeneity was observed. This was examined in more detail in order to understand the underlying basis for this observation.

GFP Expression is heterogeneous in repaired cell populations following NHEJ.

The histogram of GFP positive cells reveals the emergence of two expression classes with differing GFP intensities. One class expresses GFP robustly while the other maintains lower expression levels. We refer to these populations as Bright and Dim, respectively (Figure 5). To determine if the differing expression classes may be a result of DNA methylation, we tested whether the expression classes were altered by the DNA hypomethylating drug, 5'-Aza-2'-Deoxycytidine (AzadC). This drug acts by inducing a stable, covalent complex between the methyl's and DNA (50,61-63). The result is hypomethylation of the genome due to the sequestering of DNMTs that are

covalently bound to DNA. This prevents further methyltransferase action and effectively inhibits the overall DNA methylation of the cell. Based on this known mechanism, multiple cell divisions are required in order to observe genome-wide hypomethylation, which is manifested in the daughter cell population.

When IHN20.22 cells are induced with Dox and then treated with AzadC, there is an obvious shift of cells from the low expressing Dim population to the high expressing Bright population (Figure 6). The conversion of 'dim' cells to 'bright' cells by the hypomethylating drug suggests that the repaired GFP gene in the low expressing pool is a direct result of DNA methylation either during or soon after NHEJ repair. In the absence of AzadC, the Bright population of cells initially decreases over 4 days then appears to stabilize (Figure 7, -AzadC). In contrast, cells treated with AzadC displayed a clearly different trend (Figure 7, +AzadC). The drug reverses the loss in Bright cells, probably due to the ongoing conversion of Dim cells into the Bright pool. In either case, a few days after the damage/repair event, the proportions of cells in Bright and Dim cell populations remain fairly stable as cells are passaged (Figure 7); however, addition of AzadC to cells that are 24 days post-repair results in a sharp increase in the percentage of high expressing cells (Figure 8), supporting the notion that the expression difference is likely due to post-repair methylation as opposed to an off target drug interaction during the repair process. Further, the extent to which AzadC causes the shift from low to high GFP expression occurs is dose dependent (Figure 9).

Since it appears that the expression classes eventually become stable, presumably due to stable methylation marks (which are heritable) we next attempted to isolate pure populations of Dim and Bright cells to make the analysis more tractable. Before treatment, sorted Dim cells appear as a relatively homogenous population in a uni-modal distribution (Figure 10A) with relatively low levels

of GFP expression (labeled as the "P1" pool). Note that while the distribution is broad, it is nonetheless uniform with very low levels of bright GFP expressing cells (P4). Following AzadC treatment of the Dim cell pool, a new population emerges in the high expression range (Figure 10A, right panel "P4" pool). As with sorted Dim cells, sorted Bright cells also show a single peak of GFP expression (Figure 10B); however, these cells are far more homogeneous (compare Figure 10A, B). Since the Bright cell pool also shifts perceptibly to the right in the presence of AzadC (Figure 10B, right panel, P4), we conclude that the bright pool contains cells with some degree of DNA methylation (which is removed by AzadC) (Figure 3B). This experiment clearly evidenced the conversion of Dim cells to Bright cells by a DNA hypomethylating drug. Live imaging reveals that the information regulating the GFP expression level of post-repair cells is passed from parent to daughter cells as the cells divide (Figure 11). The cause of the silencing is heritable but reversible, pointing once more to DNA methylation as the source of the gene expression variation.

The availability of relatively pure populations of Dim and Bright cells makes it possible to use bisulfite DNA sequencing to interrogate methylation sites before and after NHEJ. Thus, in addition to validating the presence of epi-alleles in Dims and Brights, bisulfite DNA sequencing of the post-repair populations makes it possible to map these epi-alleles relative to the I-Sce1 cleavage and repair site. Bisulfite sequencing confirmed that the GFP gene is hypomethylated in sorted Bright cells and hypermethylated in sorted Dim cells. Specifically, changes occur in regions both up and downstream of the break site (Figure 12). Interestingly, the methylation status of CpGs in the region directly flanking the break site is not affected by the process. This suggests a coordination of methylation and repair proteins to affect methylation patterns in specific areas around the site of DNA damage.

Different DNA methylation patterns mark Recombinant from Uncut cells.

The data so far demonstrate that NHEJ is spinning out new epi-alleles that are either overwritten or completely revised from the parental (uncut) reporter DNA. Moreover, the expressability of the repair products correlates with the percent of DNA methylation in sorted Dim and Bright cells. The pyrosequencing analysis done thus far evaluates the average methylation levels for a single CpG site derived from physically different molecules; however, it does not consider the relationship between the different methylated cytosines present on the same molecule (epialleles). For this reason, we have analyzed the composition of methylated population (heterogeneity), by counting the number of different epialleles in the sample (haplotypes) obtained from deep sequencing analysis of the amplicons.

The DSB region was divided into 5 segments (3 upstream and 2 downstream regions from the DSB site, (Figure 13). Deep quantitative (Taxa, PCoA and Shannon Index) and qualitative (methylation profiles) analysis of amplicons with the same end was carried out. The results show that recombinant cells (both Dims and Brights) and uncut parental cells have the same types of methylated species (un-methylated, mono, bi and tri-methylated) but with different compositions (Figure 13). In fact, the Bright cells appear to be rich in unmethylated species compared to Dims and Uncut in each region, confirming that high levels of GFP expression in this population are largely unmethylated (marked by an asterisk in Fig. 5A). Moreover, Principal Coordinates Analysis reveals that Dim and Uncut parental DNAs have a smaller euclidean distance compared to Bright (variation 96% *vs* 4%), highlighting a common origin for Recombinant (i.e., NHEJ repaired) cells, followed by a de-methylation event of the Bright cells (Figure 14). We also analyzed the diversity index (Shannon Index) in order to evaluate the evenness of the species. Except for the region 1

(where Bright and Uncut are much more similar to the Dims), we observe that 2 upstream regions of DSB site (Region 2 - 3) show a gradual increase in similarity between Dims and Uncut relative to the Bright cells (single asterisk*), while region 4 (downstream region of DSB site) shows a high similarity between the Recombinants (Dims plus Brights) compared to the Uncut (double asterisk **), which is lost in the region 5 (Figure 15).

Finally, we have performed a deep qualitative analysis to identify the differences between Recombinant and Uncut (parental) cells in terms of gain or loss of methylation (Figure 16). The differences between the percentage of Recombinant's epialleles compared to Uncut cells show that the Dim cells gain methylation marks in the region 1 (*di-methylated epialleles*), in the region 2 (*mono-, diand tri-methylated epialleles*), and in the region 5 (*mono-, di- and tri-methylated epialleles*). In contrast the Bright cells lose methylated epialleles in these same regions. For example, in region 3, Bright cells appear to acquire new methylation (*di-methylated epialleles*) while DIMS lose methylated epialleles in the region 4. Knowing the different GFP expression between the two populations, we hypothe size that transcription may modify DNA methylation (or de-methylation) after DNA damage and NHEJ repair, remodeling the chromatin in units with different transcriptional efficiency (and in the process spinning out Dim and Bright cell populations).

Discussion

Epigenetic revision as a component of tumorigenesis

Despite their involvement in so many types of cancer, the root cause of DNA miscues is largely unknown. This study reveals a novel connection between two essential cellular processes that has a potential role in the development and progression of cancer. Deep sequencing analysis of post-repair DNA revealed both loss and of methylation in areas up and downstream of the break site (Figure 6B) that is correlated with up- or downregulation, respectively. The mechanism described here provides evidence for alterations in methylation profiles as a result of NHEJ repair, a process which could explain the epigenetic revision that is characteristic of cancer cells.

What is not clear is how universal and wide-spread NHEJ-mediated epigenetic revision paths are in a tissue context. In our model system, we used a gene that is not subject to selection; however, it stands to reason that silencing or activating a positive or negative growth-promoting gene could produce cells that have a growth advantage relative to surrounding normal cells (8,13,64). Growth promoting outcomes could clearly place the cell on a path toward a pre-cancerous condition. In contrast, silencing a pro-growth gene (oncogene) could result in the loss of a cell lineage. In either situation, tissue epistasis could be targeted with undesirable outcomes. What is intriguing is that even when an error-prone pathway such as NHEJ regenerates wild-type sequence, there is still a good chance for gene activation or silencing. Thus, mutating a tumor suppressor gene is functionally equivalent to epigenetic silencing the expression of the same gene, with the same dire consequences.

A new pathway for discovery of novel epi-therapeutic targets

Changes in DNA methylation have been shown to accumulate throughout the genome with the progression of cancer (64-67) and have been shown to positively correlate with tumor stage (66). Cancer cells have also been shown to acquire additional genetic mutations due to an increase in DSBs resulting from increase reactive oxygen species production, telometic dysfunction, genomic instability, and replication errors (47,68). Although the increased DSB may give cancer cells a growth advantage by providing favorable mutations in key regulatory genes, it also makes them increasingly dependent on DSB repair in order to grow and proliferate at a high rate. If DNA methylation revisions occur during or soon after NHEJ, as demonstrated here, further DSB repair that occurs in rapidly dividing cancer cells may exacerbate the situation and could explain the accumulation of inappropriately methylated or demethylated genes that is characteristic of progressing cancer. The association of methylation revisions with tumor stage could enable their use as a cancer marker to predict prognosis of developing cancer and to predict responsiveness to specific therapeutics (33). Although methylation aberrations tend to accumulate with malignant progression, they have also been shown to be present in the early stages of pre-malignancy (8,67,69). This could make them candidates for use as a diagnostic tool for early detection of cancer cells (67,69). Further exposing the mechanism behind the overlap of these key processes could provide new targets for therapeutics to interfere with the progressive gain of epigenetic miscues by this mechanism and prevent tumor progression.

Intragenic DNA methylation and gene silencing

While methylation based gene silencing is typically associated with promotor CpG islands, studies have also shown that intragenic methylation may affect gene expression as well. In tragenic methylation in plant cells was shown to increase in more highly transcribed genes, presumably in an effort to prevent aberrant transcription at other nearby sites that can result when transcription machinery disrupts chromatin structure. Inhibition of DNA methylation in these cells caused up regulation of genes that were methylated only in the body of the gene and not in their promoters (70). Similar results were found in mammalian cells where intragenic methylation was shown to decrease gene expression and facilitate compaction of chromatin that is correlated with a reduced density of DNA polymerase II in the body of the gene (71). Further, another study concluded that a single methylated CpG in the intron of the PMP24 gene was sufficient to silence the gene. In addition to demonstrating the ability of intragenic methylation to silence genes, these studies suggest a connection between methylation and reduced elongation efficiency. This supports our findings that aberrant methylation in the body of the GFP gene causes silencing.

This also incites the idea that transcription may reshape the epigenetic landscape, a phenomenon that has already been demonstrated to occur following DNA repair by HDR (51). It was found that this process is mediated by Base Excision Repair (BER)-mediated demethylation (52). Principle Coordinates Analysis presented in Figure 5B revealed that Dim cells had a closer Euclidian distance to the original, uncut parental DNA than Bright cells. This data supports a model where the area surrounding the site of NHEJ is first methylated and then progressively demethylated over time with transcription, resulting in an array of epialleles with differing levels and locations of methylated CpGs. Future work will look further into this idea.

In summary, this study reveals a novel connection between two processes that have important roles in cancer development and progression, NHEJ and DNA methylation. This link provides a clue to one of the biggest unanswered question in this area of study: What causes the epigenetic revision that is pivotal to the multistep progression of cancer? While DNA damage and repair is stochastic, a damage event that results in epigenetic revision following repair and provides the cell with a growth advantage could direct the cell onto a path of tumorigenesis. This could explain why some genes exhibit inappropriate methylation patterns in some cancers but not others, as only genes that are beneficial to that particular tissue type would confer a selective advantage. Thus, methylation revision following DNA repair by NHEJ, the most predominant repair pathway in animal cells, fits the criterion to be the source of epigenetic abnormalities in cancer cells and could provide information for the development of new therapeutic strategies for preventing and stopping this process from contributing to tumorigenesis.


Figure 1. Reporter construct integrated into the genome of the IHN20.22 HeLa cell line.

The NHEJ reporter GFP gene contains a Pem1 intron interrupted by an adenoviral exon. Two I-Sce1 restriction sites allow the homing endonuclease to cut the DNA and excise the adenoviral exon to produce wild-type GFP following repair by NHEJ.



Figure 2. Generation of GFP positive cells following repair.

Cells were induced with dox for 24 hours and then the percentage of the population expressing GFP was analyzed using FACS. The circles on the "+Dox" plot indicate two separate GFP positive cell populations with differing expression levels of GFP



Figure 3. Time course analysis of GFP expression.

The percentage of GFP positive cells was analyzed by FACS over the course of 9 days, either following a 24-hour induction or with continuous exposure to doxycycline. The uncut cell line with no dox exposure was also analyzed to asses basal levels of GFP expression.



Figure 4. Live-cell imaging of GFP expression.

The onset of WT GFP expression in a single cell was observed during the 72 hours following a 24 hour Dox induction using live-cell imaging. The arrows indicate time progression and the black circle indicates the GFP negative cell that is GFP positive in subsequent images.



Figure 5. Histogram of GFP+ cells after induction with dox with gating for Bright and Dim populations.



Figure 6. Hypomethylation by 5'Aza-2'-deoxycitidine.

IHN20.22 cells were induced with dox for 24 hours and then treated with a daily dose of 1μ M AzadC for 48 hours. The percentage of cells with high (Bright) and low (Dim) GFP expression with and without AzadC treatment were quantified using FACS histograms of GFP positive cells. The second graph is an overlay of the histogram with (red) and without (blue) treatment with AzadC.



Figure 7. Characterization of the effect of hypomethylation by AzadC on the GFP expression level in post-repair cells.

GFP expression level over the course of 7 days is compared between cells with and without AzadC treatment. Cells were induced with dox for 24 hours and then given a daily dose of 1μ M AzadC. The percentage of Bright cells was measured using FACS on days 1, 2, 4 and 7 following initiation of AzadC treatments.



Figure 8. The effect of AzadC treatment on post-repair cells.

The distribution of cells in each expression class was observed in the days following NHEJ repair. As indicated by the arrow on the last graph, the cells were treated with 5μ M AzadC on day 25 and then analyzed by FACS on day 26, 27, 28, and 30.



Figure 9. The effect of AzadC concentration on GFP expression class populations.

Cells were induced with dox for 24 hours and then given a daily dose of the indicated concentration of AzadC for 2 days. After a 48-hour recovery, the percentage of Bright cells was determined using FACS. The fold increase in the percentage of bright cells is shown.



Figure 10. Treatment of sorted populations with AzadC.

Dim (A) and Bright (B) populations were sorted using FACS and then the sorted populations were treated with a daily dose of AzadC for 48 hours. The level of GFP expression was measured using FACS. The blue line in (B) indicates the median of the Bright peak.



Figure 11. Live-cell imaging of Dim and Bright cells.

Live-cell imaging was used to observe the origination and propagation of cells with Dim and Bright expression of GFP during the 72 hours following a 24 hour dox induction. The arrow indicates the progression of time.



Figure 12. Bisulfite Sequencing of sorted Dim and Bright cells.

Next-Generation Sequencing of bisulfite converted DNA was used to determine the methylation patterns of the area around the site of repair in sorted Dim and Bright cell populations as well as uncut IHN20.22 cells.



Figure 13. Profile composition of Bright, Dim, and Uncut cell populations.

Epialleles profiles obtained from the analysis of the methylation of each amplicons were subjected to alpha and beta diversity (Qiime). Compositions are grouped by number of methylated CpGs for the five regions adjacent to the DSB. "0 (red color = un-methylated)", "1 (blue = mono-methylated)", "2 (orange = di-methylated)" and "3 (green = tri-methylated)" represent the percent to class of methylation.



Figure 14. Principal coordinate analysis of Bright, Dim and Uncut populations.

Epialleles profiles obtained from the analysis of the methylation of each amplicons were subjected to alpha and beta diversity (Qiime). In the X and Y axes are represented, respectively, the first and the second components (PC1 and PC2) with the amount of variance in the samples explained by these components, included in brackets. The first principle component represents the highest variance, and the total variance of the samples is the cumulative sum of that described by each of the axes.



Figure 15. Shannon diversity index between Bright, Dim and Uncut populations.

Epiallele profiles obtained from the analysis of the methylation of each amplicons were subjected to alpha and beta diversity (Qiime). In the X and Y axes are represented, respectively, "number of sequences for sample" and "Rarefaction measure (species richness)" for Shannon Index.



Figure 16. Gain or loss of methylation in Bright and Dim populations compared to the Uncut population.

Epialleles profiles obtained from the analysis of the methylation of each amplicons were subjected to alpha and beta diversity (Qiime).

Tabl	le 1.	Summary	table of	methylated	profiles	for region.
------	-------	---------	----------	------------	----------	-------------

Regio	า1			
profiles	n_meths	UNCUT	DIMS	BRIGHT
<u> </u>	0	29.04	29.88	45.13
$- \overline{\mathbf{P}} \mathbf{P}$	1	59.78	56.10	47.77
$\underline{\bullet } \underline{\bullet } \bullet $	1	1.59	1.70	1.47
$- \mathbf{P} \mathbf{P}$	2	9.57	12.30	5.61

Regio	n 3			
profiles	n_meths	UNCUT	DIMS	BRIGHT
90	0	38.61	42.70	50.67
	1	16.01	16.07	6.85
$\underline{\bullet } \underline{\bullet } \underline{\bullet }$	1	13.67	13.85	7.14
••	2	31.69	27.36	35.32

UNCUT

9.14

2.22

2.20

3.79

17.86

2.76

4.60

57.39

DIMS

16.01

3.77

3.04

6.37

17.88

3.12

4.86

44.90

BRIGHT

37.60

3.55

2.23

6.91

12.04

1.83

2.95

32.85

Regio	n 2				Regio	า 4
profiles	n_meths	UNCUT	DIMS	BRIGHT	profiles	n_meths
999	0	14.64	5.85	44.90	<u> </u>	0
<u> </u>	1	12.38	17.59	9.12	<u> </u>	1
$\overline{0}$	1	0.76	1.02	0.66	$\varphi \varphi \varphi$	1
$\mathbf{\Phi}$	1	0.56	0.81	1.54	$\Phi \varphi \varphi$	1
$\mathbf{Q} \mathbf{\Phi} \mathbf{\Phi}$	2	9.45	9.57	1.86	$ \varphi \Phi \Phi$	2
$\mathbf{P} \mathbf{Q} \mathbf{\Phi}$	2	5.52	7.83	2.44	$\underline{\bullet} \\ \underline{\bullet} \\ $	2
\mathbf{P}	2	3.80	3.27	5.82	$\mathbf{P}\mathbf{P}\mathbf{Q}$	2
$\mathbf{\Phi} \mathbf{\Phi} \mathbf{\Phi}$	3	52.84	54.01	33.63	$\mathbf{\Phi} \mathbf{\Phi} \mathbf{\Phi}$	3

Region 5				
profiles	n_meths	UNCUT	DIMS	BRIGHT
<u> </u>	0	24.15	12.45	40.45
<u> </u>	1	2.86	1.52	4.194
	1	0	0	0.02
	1	5.76	6.21	5.54
$\mathbf{P}\mathbf{P}\mathbf{P}\mathbf{Q}\mathbf{Q}$	1	10.68	14.05	7.93
$\mathbf{\rho}\mathbf{\rho}\mathbf{\phi}\mathbf{\phi}$	2	0	0	0
$\rho \phi \phi \phi$	2	0.91	1	0.76
$\rho \phi \phi \phi$	2	0	0	0
$\mathbf{P}\mathbf{P}\mathbf{P}\mathbf{P}\mathbf{P}$	2	1.96	2.95	1.26
$\mathbf{\Phi}\mathbf{\Phi}\mathbf{\Phi}\mathbf{\Phi}\mathbf{\Phi}$	2	0	0	0
$- \Phi \Phi \Phi \Phi$	2	45.06	51.75	33.58
$\mathbf{P} \mathbf{\Phi} \mathbf{\Phi} \mathbf{\Phi}$	3	0	0	0
$\mathbf{P} \mathbf{P} \mathbf{P} \mathbf{P}$	3	0	0	0
$\mathbf{P} \mathbf{P} \mathbf{Q} \mathbf{P}$	3	8.56	9.96	6.18
$\mathbf{P}\mathbf{P}\mathbf{P}\mathbf{P}\mathbf{Q}$	3	0	0.03	0.01
$\bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet$	4	0	0.02	0

REGION	PRIMER	SEQUENCE
1	F'	5'-AGGTTAGTTTGGGTTATATGAGAGTTTG-3'
1	R'	5'-TTTCAAACTACCCCATATAACATCTAACC-3'
2	F'	5'-TGGTAAGGGATTTTGTAGATTATTGGATTTAG-3'
2	R'	5'-CTACTATACTCACCCATTATTCTAAAAAACAC-3'
3	F'	5'-AGGTTGTATTTTATTTTTTTTTTATAGTTAGGTTTGTTT
3	R'	5'-ATCTAAAAATACATTAAAAAATCCTCTTTCCCCCTTC-3'
4	F'	5'-GTGATTATGGTTTTTGTTTTTTTTTTTGGAATTGT-3'
4	R'	5'-CTAACACTCCCTACTTAATAAAAACTCC-3'
5	F'	5'-GGAGTTTTTATTAAGTAGGGAGTGTTAG-3'
5	R'	5'-CCCCATAAAAACCCACAATATTTCAAATC-3'

CHAPTER THREE:

Introduction

Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma

Head and neck squamous cell carcinomas (HNSCCs) are squamous cell cancers originating in the lip and oral cavity, nasopharynx, oropharynx, hypopharynx, or larynx. The etiologies of HNSCC are divided into two groups corresponding to the two major risk factors for this type of cancer: exposure to alcohol and tobacco and infection with human papillomavirus (HPV). Smoking increase the risk of HNSCC 5 to 25-fold (72) and the risk is even higher when habitual smoking and alcohol use are combined. Over the last decade, there has been a decrease in smoking- related HNSCCS that is correlated with a decrease in the use of tobacco products. This decline is occurring congruently with an increase in HPV-positive HNSCC incidence, particularly in younger individuals (72-75). The differing causations of HPV-positive and HPV-negative HNSCC essentially produces two diseases with two distinct pathogeneses. In addition to having different biological and clinical phenotypes, HNSCCs that are HPV-positive are associated with a better prognosis than those that are HPV-negative (76,77).

The role of DNA methylation in HNSCC

As discussed in chapter two, changes in DNA methylation patterns are seen across many different type of cancer and HNSCC is no exception. The extent of aberrant methylation patterns in HNSCC have been recently been shown to have predictive value in determining patient prognosis (78) and is correlated with progression of the disease (79).

While both HPV-negative and HPV-positive HNSCCs exhibit changes in DNA methylation patterns, studies have shown that methylation patterns are different between the two both in a global and site-specific manner (76,80-83). HPV-positive tumors tend to have greater levels or CpG methylation while HPV-negative tumors tend to exhibit global hypomethylation (76,80-82,84). It has been shown that HPV viral oncoproteins can cause changes in DNA methylation and upregulation of DNMT's (85,86) and may interact with DNMT's (87) or be involved in the upregulation of DNMT's by interacting with other regulators like p53 (88,89) and RB1 (90). While this could explain some of the hypermethylation seen in HPV-positive tumors, other mechanisms contributing to hypomethylation and to methylation changes in HPV-negative cancers have not yet been identified.

Circulating oncogenic agents in serum

Studies have also demonstrated the ability of serum from cancer patients to generate tumorigenic phenotypes in treated cells in culture (91-93). This can occur by horizontal gene transfer from circulating, cell-free DNA (93,94) or by the uptake of extracellular vesicles (EVs) that are released into circulation by cancer cells (95-98). Extracellular vesicles, or exosomes, are membrane bound vesicles that may contain membrane or cytosolic proteins, lipids, or nucleic acids for use in intercellular signaling (99). Released by both healthy and cancer cells, exosomes are found in many different body fluids including urine, breast milk blood serum and plasma, amniotic fluid, ascites, semen, and saliva (95,99). Cancer cells use this mechanism to package and deliver oncogenic proteins (100,101), mRNA and miRNA (100,102,103), or DNA (96) that are capable of causing malignant transformation of recipient cells or facilitate cancer progression and metastasis (95).

Because serum circulates throughout the body and is easily accessible in a clinical setting, it is often examined for the presence of biomarkers that are associated with various disease states. Differing protein (104-107) and RNA(108,109) profiles between healthy individuals and patients with different types and stages of cancer have been identified and found to have diagnostic or prognostic value (110). In addition, epigenetic changes, such as abnormal methylation patterns, have been identified in cancer-associated DNA from blood serum from cancer patients and have been used as biomarkers for detection, diagnosis, and prognosis of many different types of cancer (111-113).

Circulating blood serum may contain a mixture of DNA, RNA including miRNA, and protein, all of which may participate in epigenetic processes. In this work, we investigate whether circulating oncogenic materials in the blood serum of cancer patients, in addition to being useful as diagnostic tools, may contribute to tumorigenesis and progression by causing changes in the normal patterns of epigenetic regulation in distal cells, specifically by altering DNA methylation patterns.

Materials and Methods

Generation of the Dim HeLa cell line

Following induction of DNA damage and repair, NHEJ reporter HeLa cells were sorted based on their fluorescence intensity into Dim and Bright populations (114). Hypermethylation of the Dim cells was confirmed using bisulfite sequencing of an area of the integrated GFP gene.

Human blood serum collection

Serum from 71 HNSCC patients aged between 40 and 88 (Mean age 62 years, STDEV= 9.2) with varying tumor grades and locations in the oral cavity, oropharynx, and larynx were used in this study along with serum from 10 samples from healthy patients aged between 46 and 59. Serum was collected prepared in the Department of Head and Neck Surgery, Greater Poland Cancer Center before surgical treatment. The Institutional Review Board of University of Medical Sciences in Poznan approved the study, and informed consents were obtained from all patients. Blood samples were collected in BD Vacutainer Serum Separation Tubes, incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature to allow coagulation, and centrifuged at 1300 g for 10 minutes. The serum supernatant was transferred to new tubes, centrifuged at 16,000 g for 15 minutes to remove any residual cells and debris, and stored at -80° C (115).

Cell culture

HeLa cells were grown in RPMI basal medium with L-glutamine and supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% penicillin-streptomycin. Cells were grown at 37° C at 5% CO₂.

HNSCC serum treatments

HeLa cells were plated in 96-well plates (Corning) at low density and allowed to attach for several hours. Medium was then removed and replaced with freshly prepared medium containing 10% human serum and no FBS. Cells were allowed to grow for 72 hours before lifting for FACS analysis.

AzadC treatment

Fresh AzadC was prepared by dissolving in DMSO at a concentration of 10mM. HeLa cells were plated in 96-well plates at low density and allowed to attach for several hours. Cells were given a daily dose of AzadC at a final concentration of 1 μ M for 48 hours and then lifted for FACS analysis.

FACS analysis

Dim cells were trypsinized and centrifuged at 1000xg for 5 minutes and then re-suspended in PBS at a density of 10⁶ cells/mL Cells were run on an Accuri Flow Cytometer. Live cells were selected using a plot of SSC-A vs FSC-A and then a histogram of FL1-A was used to identify and gate cells in the Dim population. Gating and statistical analysis was done using FlowLogic software.

Exosome depletion

Media was prepared using 10% human serum from either HNSCC patients or healthy individuals and placed in 1.5mL ultracentrifuge tubes (Beckman Coulter) and spun at 120,000 x g in a fixed angle rotor at 4°C using a Beckman TLX 120 tabletop ultracentrifuge for 4 hours. The supernatant containing media and serum was removed from the pelleted exosomes and then remixed together before it was added to the cells.

RNase A digestion

Media was prepared using 10% human serum from either HNSCC patients or healthy individuals and then digested with 100 μ g/mL RNase A (Thermoscientific) for 1 hour at 37°C before it was added to the cells.

Proteinase K digestion

Human serum was digested in 200ng/µL Proteinase K (Promega) overnight at 37°C. Proteinase K was deactivated by incubation in 200µM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF) (ThermoScientific) before preparing medium with digested serum.

Human serum fractionation

Human serum was filtered using Amicon ® Ultra-0.5mL centrifugal filters. Serum was first filtered through a 30 kDa filter, then the filtrate was filtered through a 10 kDa filter, and then that filtrate was passed through a 5 kDa filter to yield 4 fractions containing different protein size ranges. Media was prepared using 10% of the indicated fraction of serum.

Statistical analysis of fluorescence intensity changes

Mean fluorescence intensity and percent Dim values for cells treated with healthy and caner serum were subjected to a two-tailed t-test with a 95% confidence interval. Graphed results are indicated as mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistics and graphs were generated using Prism 5 software (GraphPad).

Results

Circulating hypomethylating agents in HNSCC serum

In order to study the effects of HNSCC patient serum on DNA methylation, we used a GFP reporter cell line that has a methylated GFP gene. This reporter line, which we have named "Dim" was generated during our previous studies where we determined that DNA methylation changes occur following repair by NHEJ (114). Since we have confirmed that the GFP gene in these cells is methylated and that hypomethylation causes an increase in their GFP expression, we can use these cells as reporters for DNA hypomethylating agents.

The Dim HeLa cell line express GFP moderately, appearing as a uniform peak on FACS histograms (Figure 17). Treatment with serum from HNSCC patients causes a populations of Dim cells to increase their expression of GFP. This is visualized on FACS histograms by a shift of cells from the gated "Dim" population into a "Bright" expression class (Figure 18). Treatment with serum from a control group of healthy individuals did not produce the same response (Figure 19). In order to generate a standard for comparison of what FACS histograms of the Dim cells look like when GFP becomes hypomethylated, the cells were treated with, 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine (AzadC), a drug with known hypomethylating actions that have led to its approval by the FDA for treatment of myelodysplastic syndrome (24). The shift from Dim to Bright cells following AzadC treatment (Figure 10, A) is unique to the hypomethylating drug and is not seen following treatment with other

types of drugs or sera (data not shown). The similarity in responses of Dim cells to HNSCC patient serum and to the hypomethylating drug indicate that there is some factor in HNSCC patient serum that also acts as a hypomethylating agent.

Unlike their response to normal human serum, the response of Dim cells to serum from different HNSCC patients was heterogeneous. Serum from some patients caused a significant shift from the Dim to the Bright GFP expression class (Figure 18) while the effect of serum from other patients was not as pronounced (Figure 20). Serum that caused greater shifts were designated as "Responders" while those effecting only small shifts were classified as "Partial Responders". Still others had little to no effect on GFP expression and were termed "Non-Responders" (Figure 21). There was a positive correlation of the expression level of GFP determined by qPCR and the fluorescence intensity measured by FACS (r=0.37, p=0.04), indicating that the shift seen in FACS data was in fact due to changes in expression of the GFP gene. Although there was diversity in the response of Dim cells to the serum from different HNSCC patients, the difference in their overall response to serum from cancer serum versus healthy human serum was statistically significant (Figure 22). The percent of the cells contained in the Dim category was decreased and the mean fluorescence intensity was increased in cells treated with cancer serum compared to those treated with healthy human serum. Thus, serum from HNSCC cancer patients, but not from healthy individuals, has the capacity to induce hypomethylation in treated cells. Further, continuous serum exposure was required to maintain the GFP expression change. When cells were treated with human serum and then allowed to recover in normal culture medium containing FBS, the cells returned to their original expression class (Figure 23).

48

Identifying the type of hypomethylating agent in HNSCC serum

Although it has been demonstrated that exposure to HNSCC patient serum alters methylation profiles in treated cells compared to normal human serum, it is still unclear what elements are contained in the serum that are causing these effects. In order to identify the causative agent, we used a knockout method by removing specific types of serum components individually and then using serums classified as "Responders" as a screen to measure the ability of the treated serum to generate the same hypomethylation response. We first hypothesized that miRNA contained in the serum may be responsible. To investigate this, we pre-treated serum with RNase A before treating the cells. This treatment had no effect on the serums' hypomethylating actions (Figure 24, Figure 25). Since the RNA contained in serum is known to be contained in exosomes (95) which would prevent their exposure to the RNase A treatment, we next depleted the serum of exosomes prior to cell treatment. As with RNase A treatment, exosome depletion did not hinder the hypomethylating effects of HNSCC patient serum (Figure 26, Figure 27).

Next, we sought to determine if the source of the methylation changes was a protein, so we digested the serum with Proteinase K prior to treating the cells. Removal of protein from the serum ablated the shift from low GFP expression to high GFP expression that was previously observed when Dim cells were treated with HNSCC patient serum (Figure 28). Since the difference in mean fluorescence intensity between HNSCC serum treated Dim cells with and without Proteinase K treatment is statistically significant (Figure 29), these data identify the hypomethylating effector as a protein contained only in HNSCC serum or in different quantities than normal human serum.

To obtain more information about what protein is causing the hypomethylating effects of HNSCC patient serum, we filtered the serum into 4 fractions based on protein size so that each

49

fraction contains proteins within a specific size range. Treatment of Dim cells with the fraction containing proteins that are greater than 30 kDa caused a shift in GFP expression that appears even more pronounced than that caused by the total serum, while fractions containing only smaller proteins produced little or no change in GFP expression (Figure 30). These results classify the unknown protein as being greater than 30 kDa. Since 10% serum was used in each treatment, the fractions contained concentrated amounts of proteins in their respective size range. The increased concentration of the hypomethylating protein in the greater than 30 kDa fraction caused more hypomethylation in Dim cells than the total serum with all proteins.

To clarify if the epigenetically active protein was also contained in healthy human serum but in smaller amounts, we filtered the serum from a healthy individual into two fractions, one containing proteins greater than 30 kDa and one containing proteins smaller than 30 kDa. If the protein is also contained in this serum, we would expect that concentration of the proteins that are over 30 kDa would concentrate this protein enough to produce a change in GFP expression of the dim cells. Neither fractions from this serum produced a shift in GFP expression in Dim cells (Figure 31), confirming that the hypomethylating protein is present only in the serum from the cancer patients.

Discussion

Cancer cells may induce epigenetic changes in distant cells

The importance of epigenetic changes in cancer progression has already been discussed, but the potential for cancer cells to broadcast epigenetic changes to cells in other areas of the body has critical implications on their metastatic potential. This gives cancer cells the power to incite carcinogenic processes in distant, healthy cells and facilitate progression of the disease. Further, although the model presented in this paper reports that HNSCC patient serum can cause hypomethylation in exposed cells, it does not exclude the possibility of other factors in serum that may affect epigenetic regulation in other ways such as DNA hypermethylation or changes in histone marks.

Studies have suggested a correlation between cancer stage and serum levels of epigenetic regulators like DNMT1 and HDAC1 (116,117), however, to our knowledge, this is the first study demonstrating epigenetic change as a result of circulating, cancer-associated proteins. This finding is especially interesting given our limited knowledge of how DNA demethylation occurs in animal cells despite the fact that, as previously mentioned, hypomethylation frequently contributes to cancer progression by activating oncogenes (8). HNSCCs, specifically, have been shown to have increased levels of global hypomethylation that correlate with smoking and tumor stage (118) and to be more pronounced in HPV-negative tumors (81). In fact, studies have demonstrated a correlation between smoking and DNA hypomethylation independently of HNSCC (119,120).

Mechanisms of DNA demethylation

DNA demethylation may occur passively as a result of a failure of DNMTs to propagate methylation marks to daughter DNA strands during replication, or actively by conversion of 5methylcytosine (5mC) to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC) through the enzymatic activity of the ten-eleven translocation (Tet) family of dioxygenases. 5hmC is then further oxidized by Tet to form 5-formylcytosine (5fC) and 5-carboxylcytosine (5caC) which can then be excised and replaced with cytosine by base excision repair (BER) (121,122). Studies have demonstrated that Tet enzymes are often mutated or downregulated in cancer which can contribute to hypermethylation that is characteristic of cancer cells (123-125). This does not explain the aberrant hypomethylation that is seen throughout the development of cancer and that is highlighted in this study.

Another explanation for progressive demethylation during tumorigenesis is alterations in the structure of chromatin which makes the DNA more susceptible to demethylation. It is widely understood that DNA methylation contributes to the condensation of chromatin and thus local inactivation of genes, however less known are studies that have shown that this process occurs bilaterally. Deacetylation of histones causes changes in chromatin structure to an inactive state that protects DNA from demethylation, while deacetylation opens chromatin and allows for demethylase activity. This is supported by the demonstrated ability of inhibitors of histone deacetylases (HDACs) and histone acetyltransferases (HATs) to cause DNA hypomethylation (121,126-128).

Potential identities of the unknown protein

While the specific identity of the hypomethylating protein discovered in this study remains unresolved, fractionation of the serum by protein size allowed for smaller growth factors and signaling molecules to be eliminated as candidates. While it is possible that the serum contains a protein that is directly responsible for enzymatic demethylation of DNA, it is more likely that it contains a protein that is causing an indirect demethylation effect due to interaction with other cellular components. For example, the protein could affect histone acetylation which could in turn alter DNA methylation patterns. Alternatively, the protein could affect the expression, processing, or stability (129,130) of miRNAs that are involved in epigenetic mechanisms (131,132) of gene expression or in regulation of epigenetic proteins.

Future studies will be aimed at uncovering the identity of the circulating, cancer-associated hypomethylating protein contained in HNSCC patient serum. In addition to providing a potential target for diagnostics, a biologically active, circulating protein with tumorigenic effects could be an ideal therapeutic target to interrupt the metastatic progression of cancer.



Figure 17. FACS analysis of Dim HeLa cells grown in FBS.

Histogram of GFP expression of the Dim HeLa cell line under normal culture conditions with gated "Dim" population.



Figure 18. FACS of Dim HeLa cells treated with HNSCC patient serum: Responders.

FACS histograms of the GFP expression levels of Dim HeLa cells after treatment with HNSCC patient serum. Cells in the "Dim" expression are gated as in Figure 17 and numbers indicate the serum sample number. These serums are called "Responders" as they produced the biggest shifts in GFP expression compared to other serums.



Figure 19. FACS histograms of Dim HeLa cells treated with normal human serum.

FACS histograms of the GFP expression levels of Dim HeLa cells after treatment with healthy human serum. Cells in the "Dim" expression are gated as in Figure 17 and numbers indicate the serum sample number.



Figure 20. FACS histograms of Dim HeLa cells treated with HNSCC patient serum: Partial Responders.

FACS histograms of the GFP expression levels of Dim HeLa cells after treatment with HNSCC patient serum. Cells in the "Dim" expression are gated as in Figure 17 and numbers indicate the serum sample number. These serums are called "Partial Responders" as they produced a significant shift in GFP expression but not as pronounced as those in the "Responder" category.





FACS histograms of the GFP expression levels of Dim HeLa cells after treatment with HNSCC patient serum. Cells in the "Dim" expression are gated as in Figure 17 and numbers indicate the serum sample number. These serums are called "Non-Responders" as they produced little or no shift in GFP expression.


Figure 22. Statistical analysis of the effect of normal human and HNSCC patient serum on GFP expression in Dim HeLa cells.

The percentage of cells in the Dim expression class (A) (p=0.0015) and the mean fluorescence intensity (B) (p=0.0018) was compared for cells treated with HNSCC patient serum (n=68) and normal human serum (n=10).



Figure 23. Treatment with human serum followed by recovery in FBS.

FACS histograms of the GFP expression levels of Dim HeLa cells after treatment with normal human serum (A) or HNSCC patient serum (B) for 72 hours (graph to the left of each arrow) followed by recovery in normal media with FBS for 6 days (graph to the right of each arrow). Serum sample number is indicated in the bottom left corner of each graph.



Figure 24. Degradation of RNA in HNSCC serum.

FACS histograms of the GFP expression levels of Dim HeLa cells after treatment with normal human serum (A) or HNSCC patient serum (B) with and without digestion with RNase A. Serum sample number is indicated in the bottom left corner of each graph.

Mean Fluorescence





The mean fluorescence intensity of Dim cells after treatment with serum with or without RNase A digestion.



Figure 26. Treatment of Dim HeLa cells with exosome depleted human serum.

FACS histograms of the GFP expression levels of Dim HeLa cells after treatment with normal human serum or HNSCC patient serum with and without exosome depletion. Serum sample number is indicated in the bottom left corner of each graph.



Figure 27. Statistical analysis of the effect of exosome depletion on the hypomethylating effects of HNSCC serum.

The mean fluorescence intensity of Dim cells after treatment with serum with or without exosome depletion.



Figure 28. Degradation of protein in human serum.

FACS histograms of the GFP expression levels of Dim HeLa cells after treatment with normal human serum (A) or HNSCC patient serum (B) with and without digestion with Proteinase K. Serum sample number is indicated in the bottom left corner of each graph.



Mean Fluorescence

Figure 29. Statistical analysis of the effect of protein degradation on the hypomethylating effects of HNSCC serum.

The mean fluorescence intensity (p=0.0001) was compared for cells treated with HNSCC patient serum (n=15) with and without Proteinase K treatment.



Figure 30. Filtration of HNSCC serum into fractions with differing protein sizes.

FACS histograms of the GFP expression levels of Dim HeLa cells after treatment with total HNSCC patient serum and with serum fractions that were filtered based on protein size. Rows contain data for different serum samples and columns contain data for fractions of different protein size ranges. Serum sample number is indicated in the bottom left corner of each graph and protein size range is indicated at the top of each column.



Figure 31. Filtration of healthy human serum into fractions with differing protein sizes.

FACS histograms of the GFP expression levels of Dim HeLa cells after treatment with total healthy human serum and with serum fractions that were filtered based on protein size. Serum sample number is indicated in the bottom left corner of each graph and protein size range is indicated at the top of each graph.

CHAPTER FOUR

Introduction

MiRNAs in cancer

MicroRNAs are small, non-coding RNA molecules that are involved in gene regulation. After being transcribed, primary miRNA (pri-miRNA) transcripts are processed into pre-miRNA hairpin structures before being cleaved into short, dsRNA fragments. Finally, one strand of the fragment is then degraded to form the mature miRNA.

MiRNAs participate in regulation of gene expression by forming RNA-induced silencing complexes (RISCs) that target complementary sequences on mRNA and either inhibit translation or cause degradation. Further, miRNAs can contribute to tumorigenesis either by upregulation of a miRNAs targeting tumor suppressor genes or downregulation of miRNA targeting oncogenes (133). For example, miR124a is frequently down regulated in several cancer types including colon, breast, and lung carcinomas as well as some leukemias and lymphomas. Because this miRNA is a negative regulator of CDK6, down regulation caused by hypermethylation results in increased levels of CDK6 which in turn facilitates inactivation of RB1 via phosphorylation (141). MiRNAs have also been shown to regulate epigenetic processes by targeting DNMTs, and histone methylating EZH2 complexes (142-144). Aberrant miRNA expression can result from chromosomal deletions, mutations affecting genes involved in miRNA processing, or by epigenetic mechanisms that affect miRNA expression (134). DNA methylation and chromatin remodeling processes can cause dysregulation of miRNA in the same way as they do with gene encoding transcripts (135-137) as evidenced by the ability of HDAC inhibitors (138,139) and hypomethylating drugs (140) to induce changes in miRNA expression. This demonstrates interdependent regulation between the mechanisms.

miRNAs in HNSCC

Studies have demonstrated differing miRNA expression profiles between cancer tissue and adjacent healthy tissue in HNSCC patients (145), between serum from HNSCC patients and serum from healthy individuals (115) and between serum collected from HNSCC patents before and after treatment (146). Further. several of these miRNA have been shown to have diagnostic or prognostic value (147). As we have discussed, blood serum contains circulating factors that can cause malignant transformation in distal cells and we have already demonstrated the ability of HNSCC patient serum to epigenetically alter gene expression (Chapter 3). In this study we investigate the potential for cancer serum to effect miRNA regulation in exposed cells.

Materials and Methods

Human blood serum collection

Serum was collected prepared in the Department of Head and Neck Surgery, Greater Poland Cancer Center before surgical treatment. The Institutional Review Board of University of Medical Sciences in Poznan approved the study, and informed consents were obtained from all patients. Blood samples were collected in BD Vacutainer Serum Separation Tubes, incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature to allow coagulation, and centrifuged at 1300 g for 10 minutes. The serum supernatant was transferred to new tubes, centrifuged at 16,000 g for 15 minutes to remove any residual cells and debris, and stored at -80 °C (115).

Cell culture

HeLa cells were grown in RPMI basal medium with L-glutamine and supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% penicillin-streptomycin. Cells were grown at 37° C at 5% CO₂.

HNSCC serum treatments

HeLa cells were plated in 24-well plates (Corning) at low density and allowed to attach for several hours. Medium was then removed and replaced with freshly prepared medium containing 10% human serum and no FBS. A total of 11 serum samples were used, 7 from HNSCC patients and 4 from healthy individuals. Cells were allowed to grow for 72 hours before extracting RNA.

miRNA Extraction

Total RNA was extracted from a confluent well of a 24-well plate of serum-treated cells (n=11) using RNeasy Universal Plus Mini Kit (Qiagen) according to the manual with option to include miRNA. MiRNA was extracted from 200 µL serum using miRNeasy Serum/Plasma kit (Qiagen) according to manual. RNA concentration and purity was determined using a Gen 5 plate reader (EpochTM Mircoplate Spectrophotometer, BioTek, Winooski, VT, USA).

miRNA library preparation and sequencing

Libraries for miRNA sequencing were prepared from RNA from serum and serum treated cells using NEBNEXT Small RNA Library Prep Set for Illumina (New England Biolabs). Libraries were prepared according to the manufacturer's protocol using a 6% Polyacrylamide gel for size selection. Each sample was given a unique index primer and then all serum samples and all cell samples were pooled. The quantity and quality of miRNA libraries was determined using BioAnalyzer and RNA Nano Lab Chip Kit (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA), and the samples were combined in a single microcentrifuge tube and submitted to sequencing on a HiSeq 2500 instrument (Illumina Inc.).

Sequencing data was analyzed using sRNAtoolbox (148) for alignment and quantification of miRNA libraries and using EdgeR (149) for statistical analyses of differentially expressed miRNAs. MiRNAs with a FDR<0.05 and FC>1.3 were considered as up-regulated; and FDR<0.05 and FC<0.70 were considered as down-regulated. R (3.2.2) software and the Bioconductor package DESeq (1.2.0) were used for unsupervised hierarchical clustering for the 50 most expressed miRNAs (150) and miRNA gene families were identified using miRBase (151).

Target and Pathway analysis of miRNA-seq

DIANA-mirPath (v.3) was used for gene ontology (GO) analysis of biological processes and KEGG molecular pathways (152,153) using validated gene interactions of the differentially regulated miRNAs using Tarbase v7.0 database (154) considering P values lower than 0.05 as significant for pathway and GO Terms enrichment. Only KEGG pathways with at least 9 targeted genes targeted by at least 6 miRNAs were reported.

Real Time PCR

Cells were seeded in 24-well plates in normal culture medium with FBS. After cells attached, media was removed and replaced with freshly prepared media supplemented with 10% human serum in place of FBS and allowed to grow for 72 hours. Cells were lifted and RNA was extracted using RNeasy Plus Universal Mini Kit (Qiagen) according to kit manual. RNA concentration and purity was determined using a Gen 5 plate reader (EpochTM Mircoplate Spectrophotometer, BioTek, Winooski, VT, USA).

RNA was converted to cDNA using iScript cDNA synthesis kit (Bio-Rad) according to kit protocol using 40 µL reaction volumes and then samples were diluted to 80µL. Reactions were set up in a MicroAmp® Fast Optical 96-Well Reaction Plate (Applied Biosystems) with 2 µL of cDNA, 0.2 µL each of forward and reverse primer, 12.6 µL of nuclease free water, and 5 µL of Fast SYBR Green Master Mix (Applied Biosystems) per well. Quantitative PCR was performed using a 7900 HT Fast system (Applied Biosystems) for polymerase activation at 95°C for 20 seconds followed by 45 cycles of 1 second denaturation at 95°C and 20 second extension at 62°C. Primer sequences are listed in Table 6. List of primers used to determine relative gene expression.

Beta-2-microglobulin (B2M) was used as a housekeeping gene to normalize qPCR data. Relative gene expression was calculated using the following equation: $2^{A-B}/2^{C-D}$ (A=Ct value of the gene of interest in the first control (healthy human) sample, B=Ct value of the gene of interest in each sample, C=Ct value of B2M in the first control (healthy human) sample, D=Ct value of B2M in each sample. This gives the first control (healthy human) sample a relative expression of 1 and all other samples are calculated in relation to this sample. The results of healthy individual group were

73

averaged and results of other samples were divided by this average to give the fold change in expression of genes of interest in cells treated with cancer serum compared with cells treated with healthy human serum (155).

Statistical analysis of relative gene expression

Relative expression of genes of interest for cells treated with healthy or cancer serum were subjected to a two-tailed t test with a 95% confidence interval and graphed with mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) using Prism 5 software (GraphPad).

Results

HNSCC patient serums alter the miRNA profile of treated cells

In order to investigate the effects of cancer-associated circulating factors on cells in culture, we treated HeLa cells with serum from HNSCC patients and from healthy humans. Next-Generation sequencing of miRNA reveals that serum from HNSCC patients induces a different miRNA expression profile than the serum form healthy individuals. We detected a total of 377 miRNA expressed in HeLa cells and found a total of 16 miRNAs that were differentially expressed (Table 3): 12 were down-regulated and 4 were up-regulated in cells that were treated with cancer serum compared to cells treated with healthy human serum.

Key pathways are targeted by differentially expressed miRNAs

Tarbase did not contain interaction data for four of the differentially expressed miRNA that were identified, but analysis of the gene ontologies (GO) (Table 4) and pathways (Table 5) targets of the other 12 miRNA reveal that these miRNA target genes involved in key biological processes. In addition to several targeted cancer pathways, other cancer-related processes such as focal adhesion, cell cycle and apoptosis, and critical signaling pathways were identified. These data expose the potential ability of HNSCC patient serum to affect expression of genes in key cellular pathways by altering levels of regulating miRNAs.

Other critical genes are affected by exposure to HNSCC serum

In order to relate the differentially expressed miRNA to gene expression, we performed quantitative PCR to measure mRNA levels of some critical genes involved in cancer. A total of 14 genes were tested and 5 were found to have significantly reduced expression (p<0.05) in cells that were treated with cancer serum compared with those treated with serum from healthy individuals (Figure 32). This further demonstrates the ability of HNSCC serum to alter the expression of cancer-related genes when introduced to cells.

Discussion

Differentially expressed miRNAs are involved in cancer pathways

The miRNAs identified in this study interact with proteins that are known to be involved in oncogenic processes including proliferation, survival, and angiogenesis (Figure 33), and many have been shown to be dysregulated in cancer. Dysregulation of proteins involved in the regulation of apoptosis can have oncogenic consequences as evidenced by the many cell cycle regulating proteins that are either tumor suppressors or oncogenes. One of these proteins that is frequently mutated or dysregulated in cancer is p53, which acts as a guardian of the DNA damage cell cycle checkpoint and is responsible for initiating apoptosis when damage cannot be repaired. P53 is a vital tumor suppressor demonstrated to play a major role in head and neck cancer as well as in other types of cancer (156). In this study, we identified MDM2 as a target of miR-32-5p (Figure 33), which we found to be downregulated in cells treated with cells treated with HNSCC serum compared with those treated with healthy serum. This interaction is supported by studies demonstrating the ability of miR-32 to cause accumulation of the tumor suppressor p53 by facilitating degradation of MDM2 (157). Further, Sirt1, a target of miR-128-3p and miR-32-5p, also deacetylates p53 thereby inhibiting its transcriptional activity (162), so reduced expression of these miRNA could facilitate p53 inhibition by increasing Sirt1 expression. Notably, we also found that exposure to HNSCC serum resulted in decreased p53 expression.

Two other miRNAs found in this study to be downregulated by HNSCC patient serum exposure, miR-212-5p and miR-132-5p, also target proteins involved in cell cycle regulation. MiR-212-5p targets CCND1 and miR-132-5p targets Bcl2 (Figure 33). The protein product of CCND1, cyclin D1, cooperates with other proteins facilitate cell cycle progression from G1 to S phase while Bcl2 inhibits apoptosis by blocking the activity of pro-apoptotic proteins like Bax, Bak, and p53. MiR-132 and miR-212 are formed by differential processing of the same pri-miRNA, and upregulation of this gene cluster was shown to increase apoptosis as well as downregulate cyclin D1 and induce cell cycle arrest (158).

Mir-128 has been shown to be downregulated in many types of cancer and has been shown to act as a tumor suppressor in HNSCC specifically. Overexpression of miR-128 in HNSCC cell lines inhibited cell growth and downregulated anti-apoptotic proteins including MDM2, Bcl2, and NFkB (159). MCL1, another anti-apoptotic member of the BCL2 family, is a target of miR-32-5p, and overexpression of miR-32 was shown to induce apoptosis (160). MiR-135-5p, one of the miRNAs found to be upregulated in cells treated with HNSCC, targets the tumor suppressor APC and has been shown to promote cell growth in colorectal cancer (161).

We found that SLC2A1, a target of miR-30c-2-3p, was downregulated in cells treated with cancer serum but not with normal serum. Although the other downregulated genes identified in this study were not identified as direct targets of the differentially expressed miRNA, they could be indirectly affected by other genes that are targeted. Several of the miRNAs identified target genes that are involved in regulating gene expression such as transcription factors and histone modifiers, potentially enabling them to pleiotropically alter gene expression in the treated cells.

HNSCC serum promotes a tumorigenic expression profile in exposed cells

In summary, 16 miRNAs were found to be differentially expressed in cells treated with HNSCC patient serum compared with cells treated with healthy human serum. These miRNAs are involved in essential cellular processes that dysregulated in cancer cells. Further, the serum altered the expression of several cancer-related genes. While other studies have demonstrated differences in miRNA expression between healthy and cancer tissue in HNSCC as well as in serum from HNSCC patients compared with serum from healthy individuals, this study goes further to demonstrate the ability of cancer serum to alter the expression of genes and miRNA in exposed cells. This concept could have significant impact on the study of metastatic cancer as it reveals the ability of cancer-associated factors in circulation to affect the expression of genes and regulatory elements in distal cells in favor of tumorigenesis. Further, this could contribute to the systemic effects that cancer has on patient health.

miRNA	HEALTHY ^{1,2}	CANCER ^{1,3}	\mathbf{FC}^{4}	P-VALUE	FDR⁵
Down-regulated					
hsa-miR-216b-5p ⁶	1945.6 ± 753.8	821.9 ± 204.0	0.42	0.0000	0.0000
hsa-miR-128-3p ⁶	6633.9 ± 762.8	4384.1 ± 636.8	0.66	0.0001	0.0049
hsa-miR-216a-3p	317.0 ± 130.3	165.1 ± 20.5	0.52	0.0001	0.0049
hsa-miR-4443	50.9 ± 25.6	16.6 ± 12.1	0.33	0.0003	0.0206
hsa-miR-24-1-5p	38.7 ± 8.6	20.7 ± 4.9	0.53	0.0005	0.0223
hsa-miR-212-5p	225.6 ± 44.9	142.5 ± 18.4	0.63	0.0005	0.0225
hsa-miR-424-3p	169.9 ± 51.3	104.1 ± 13.0	0.61	0.0010	0.0330
hsa-miR-4483 ⁶	38.9 ± 13.1	19.5 ± 6.0	0.50	0.0009	0.0330
hsa-miR-132-5p	557.4 ± 61.2	312.6 ± 144.3	0.56	0.0012	0.0353
hsa-miR-216a-5p ⁶	169.8 ± 69.6	88.1 ± 34.3	0.52	0.0016	0.0369
hsa-miR-32-5p	607.1 ± 71.7	392.8 ± 111.7	0.65	0.0015	0.0369
hsa-miR-5100	400.9 ± 74.8	264.2 ± 53.6	0.66	0.0021	0.0465
Up-regulated					
hsa-miR-31-3p	110.6 ± 13.8	246.9 ± 92.1	2.23	0.0000	0.0018
hsa-miR-143-5p	1.1 ± 1.1	7.9 ± 3.0	5.81	0.0000	0.0025
hsa-miR-30c-2-3p	709.6 ± 51.0	981.4 ± 64.2	1.38	0.0011	0.0348
hsa-miR-135b-5p	4.5 ± 2.6	13.5 ± 4.2	3.03	0.0005	0.0223

Table 3. List of miRNA differentially expressed between cells treated with healthy HNSCC patient serum and with normal human serum.

¹miRNA reads per million (rpm) ²Cells treated with healthy human serum, n=4

³Cells treated with HNSCC patient serum, n=7

⁴Fold change in cancer serum compared with normal human serum

⁵False Discovery Rate

6Several differentially expressed miRNA were not found in Tarbase, so they were excluded from pathway analysis

Table 4. Gene Ontology terms for biological processes of target genes of 16 miRNAs differentially expressed in cells treated with serum from healthy individuals compared with HNSCC patients

GO CATEGORY-BIOLOGICAL PROCESS	P-VALUE	#GENES ¹	#MIRNAS ²
Response to stress	0	330	6
Catabolic process	0	305	7
Viral process	0	124	7
Symbiosis, encompassing mutualism through parasitism	0	138	7
Biological_process	0	2006	8
Biosynthetic process	0	665	8
Cellular nitrogen compound metabolic process	0	813	8
Cellular protein modification process	0	425	9
Gene expression	0	171	9
Mitotic æll cyde	3.33E-16	93	8
Neurotrophin trk receptor signaling pathway	2.67E-13	54	5
Cellular protein metabolic process	3.89E-12	80	5
Cellular component assembly	1.44E-11	184	5
MRNA metabolic process	6.96E-11	48	5
Small molecule metabolic process	2.99E-10	307	6
RNA metabolic process	8.23E-10	53	5
Membrane organization	4.12E-09	98	5
Fc-epsilon receptor signaling pathway	2.08E-08	35	5
Nudeobase-containing compound catabolic process	3.67E-08	128	5
Macromolecular complex assembly	2.67E-07	122	5
DNA metabolic process	3.81E-06	87	2
Epidermal growth factor receptor signaling pathway	5.96E-06	38	3
Transcription, dna-templated	1.18E-05	286	3
Cell death	2.68E-05	128	4
Fibroblast growth factor receptor signaling pathway	5.45E-05	35	3
Activation of signaling protein activity involved in unfolded protein response	3.01E-04	17	4
Blood coagulation	8.64E-04	58	3
Viral life cyde	5.31E-03	14	2
Immune system process	7.60E-03	136	3
Protein complex assembly	8.01E-03	82	3
Endoplasmic reticulum unfolded protein response	8.49E-03	18	2
Cellular lipid metabolic process	1.69E-02	24	2
Termination of rna polymerase ii transcription	2.33E-02	10	2
TRIF-dependent toll-like receptor signaling pathway	2.91E-02	18	3

¹Number of genes in each process targeted by miRNAs

²Number of miRNAs targeting genes in each process

Table 5. KEGG pathways of target genes of 16 miRNAs differentially expressed in cells treated with serum from healthy individuals compared with HNSCC patients

KEGG PATHWAY	P-VALUE	#GENES ¹	#MIRNAS ²
Pathways in cancer	1.23E-02	95	11
PI3K-AKT signaling pathway	3.38E-02	82	12
HTLV-I infection	3.24E-02	68	12
Focal adhesion	2.35E-03	62	11
Proteoglycans in cancer	1.51E-06	60	12
Epstein-Barr virus infection	9.00E-03	58	12
Viral caronogenesis	1.80E-03	56	11
Endocytosis	2.51E-02	52	11
FOXO signaling pathway	2.35E-03	46	11
Hepatitis B	3.62E-03	46	12
Protein processing in endoplasmic reticulum	2.51E-02	45	10
RNA transport	4.32E-02	44	11
Ubiquitin mediated proteolysis	2.48E-02	41	10
Cell cyde	2.35E-03	40	10
Transcriptional misregulation in cancer	4.32E-02	40	10
Signaling pathways regulating pluripotency of stem œlls	3.43E-02	39	11
Thyroid hormone signaling pathway	8.07E-03	37	11
Neurotrophin signaling pathway	1.38E-02	36	11
AMPK signaling pathway	4.32E-02	36	11
Oocyte meiosis	1.69E-04	35	10
Small œll lung cancer	4.01E-04	33	10
Choline metabolism in cancer	5.34E-03	33	10
Prostate cancer	2.35E-03	32	11
Adherens junction	7.74E-07	30	10
Estrogen signaling pathway	3.62E-03	30	11
Bacterial invasion of epithelial cells	9.64E-05	29	10
Erbb signaling pathway	1.62E-02	29	9
Chronic myeloid leukemia	4.96E-04	28	10
Progesterone-mediated oocyte maturation	3.28E-02	28	12
Salmonella infection	4.05E-02	27	11
Glioma	3.37E-06	26	9
Colorectal cancer	6.49E-05	26	11
Apoptosis	7.44E-03	24	9
P53 signaling pathway	9.00E-03	24	10
Prolactin signaling pathway	9.00E-03	24	10
Non-small æll lung ænær	1.69E-04	23	10

KEGG PATHWAY	P-VALUE	#GENES ¹	#MIRNAS ²
Shigellosis	2.35E-03	23	10
Pancreatic cancer	3.42E-03	23	9
Renal cell carcinoma	3.50E-02	22	8
Epithelial cell signaling in helicobacter pylori infection	4.62E-02	22	7
Melanoma	2.96E-02	21	8
Endometrial cancer	2.35E-03	20	11
Central carbon metabolism in cancer	3.24E-02	20	8
Synaptic veside cyde	3.38E-02	18	7
Bladder cancer	1.61E-02	15	7
Lysine degradation	3.38E-02	12	6
Thyroid cancer	5.23E-03	11	7
Fatty add metabolism	5.16E-03	9	9

¹Number of genes in each pathway targeted by miRNAs ²Number of miRNAs targeting genes in each pathway



Figure 32. Gene expression changes in cells exposed to HNSCC patient serum.

Quantitative PCR was used to determine relative gene expression of several cancer-related genes. Primers used for each analysis are listen in Table 6. SLC2a1 (p=0.0198), p53 (p=0.0011), cdc20 (p=0.0043), HRAS (p=0.0306), Smarca4 (p=0.0235).



Figure 33. KEGG pathway (152) analysis: Pathways in cancer.

Diagram of pathways in cancer genes and interactions. Genes highlighted in yellow are targeted by one of the differently expressed miRNA and genes highlighted in orange are targeted by more than one miRNA.

GENE	PRIMER	SEQUENCE
B2M	F'	5'-GAGTATGCCTGCCGTGTGAA-3'
B2M	R'	5'-CGGCATCTTCAAACCTCCAT-3'
TP53	F'	5'-GTGCAGCTGTGGGTTGATTC-3'
TP53	R'	5'-GCCAGACCATCGCTATCTGA-3'
RB1	F'	5'-TCAGAAGGTCTGCCAACACC-3'
RB1	R'	5'-CAGAAGTCCCGAATGATTCACC-3'
CDC20	F'	5'-AATGCGCCAGAGGGTTATCA-3'
CDC20	R'	5'-CGGCCAGTACATTCCCAGAA-3'
SLC2A1	F'	5'-GAACTCTTCAGCCAGGGTCC-3'
SLC2A1	R'	5'-ACCACACAGTTGCTCCACAT-3'
DNMT1	F'	5'-GATCGAGACCACGGTTCCTC-3'
DNMT1	R'	5'-CGGCCTCGTCATAACTCTCC-3'
DNMT3A	F'	5'-GGGGGAGGCACTTGACAC-3'
DNMT3A	R'	5'-CTCTGTCAGCCTGTGGGTG-3'
DNMT3B	F'	5'-ATAAGTCGAAGGTGCGTCGT-3'
DNMT3B	R'	5'-TGTGCGTCTTCGAGTCTTGT-3'
CDKN2A	F'	5'-TGCCCAACGCACCGAAT-3'
CDKN2A	R'	5'-CGGGTGAGAGTGGCGG-3'
SMARCA4	F'	5'-CGCAAGGAGGTGGACTACAG-3'
SMARCA4	R'	5'-AGCGTGCCCTCCTCGAT-3'
CCND1	F'	5'-GCCGAGAAGCTGTGCATC-3'
CCND1	R'	5'-GGCCAGGTTCCACTTGAG-3'
GFP	F'	5'-GCTCGATGCGGTTCACCAG-3'
GFP	R'	5'- GCTCGATGCGGTTCACCAG-3'
HRAS	F'	5'-GGACGAATACGACCCCACTAT-3'
HRAS	R'	5'-TGTCCAACAGGCACGTCTC-3'
NOTCH1	F'	5'-AGCCTCAACGGGTACAAGTG-3'
NOTHC1	R'	5'-GCCACTGGTCATGTCTTTGC-3'
MDM2	F'	5'-AGGAGATTTGTTTGGCGTGC-3'
MDM2	R'	5'-TGAGTCCGATGATTCCTGCTG-3'
PTEN	F'	5'-ACTTGCAATCCTCAGTTTGTGG-3'
PTEN	R'	5'-AACTTGTCTTCCCGTCGTGT-3'

Table 6. List of primers used to determine relative gene expression.

CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSIONS

Summary

The studies outlined here provide evidence for tumorigenic processes involving epigenetic regulation. We have demonstrated DNA methylation revision following DNA repair and epigenetic activation of gene expression and aberrant miRNA and gene expression following exposure cancer serum. The identity of the hypomethylating protein in HNSCC patient serum remains to be determined.

Conclusions

Interconnections between gene regulation processes

The processes of DNA methylation, chromatin remodeling, and miRNA expression are interdependent processes that concurrently regulate gene expression and are involved in tumorigenesis. DNA methylation causes chromatin condensation through interaction with histone modifiers (14-16), and chromatin structure can affect DNA methylation by blocking the accessibility of demethylating enzymes (121,126-128). In addition to regulating gene expression, these processes have been shown to regulate the expression of miRNAs (135-137) and, conversely, proteins involved in this process can be regulated by miRNAs. These epigenetic and miRNA regulation mechanisms form a network of processes with interconnected regulatory loops. Dysregulation of any of these processes may also affect the others and together can contribute to tumorigenesis. The methylation revision following repair by NHEJ and the cancer-associated circulating protein that were described in this study demonstrate the connection between these regulatory processes and the development of cancer.

Identifying new targets for cancer epi-therapeutics

One important property of epigenetic alterations that makes them an ideal therapeutic target is that they are reversible. This is in contrast to genetic mutations that are embedded in the DNA sequence. In fact, hypomethylating drugs including 5'Aza-2'-deoxycitidine (Decitabine), and 1-β-Dribofuranosyl-2(1H)-pyrimidinone (Zebularine), have been shown to have positive effects when used to treated cancer cells. The FDA has approved the use of Decitabine for treating myelodysplastic syndrome and Zebularine for treating hematological malignancies (24,27,33,67). Studies have also shown that antisense and small interfering RNA (siRNA) targeting DNA methyltransferase mRNA can inhibit growth of colon and renal cell carcinoma cells (27,33). Further, HDAC inhibitors, have been shown to selectively target and promote death in tumor cells. This lead to approval of Voronistat, an HDAC inhibitor approved to treat cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. In addition to increasing our knowledge of carcinogenic processes, uncovering the details of the interaction between epigenetic and gene regulation processes observed in these studies can potentially reveal new diagnostic and therapeutic targets in the inception, progression, and metastasis of cancer.

LIST OF REFERENCES

- Sanjayj Kumar, X.C., Saulius Klimasauskas, Sha Mi, Janos Posfai, Richard J. Roberts, and Geoffrey G. Wilson. (1993) The DNA (Cytosine-5) methyltransferases. *Nucleic acids research*, 22, 1-10.
- Jeltsch, A. and Jurkowska, R.Z. (2014) New concepts in DNA methylation. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, **39**, 310-318.
- Horvath, S. (2013) DNA methylation age of human tissues and cell types. *Genome Biology*, 14, 3156.
- 4. Morgan, H.D., Sutherland, H.G.E., Martin, D.I.K. and Whitelaw, E. (1999) Epigenetic inheritance at the agouti locus in the mouse. *Nature genetics*, **23**, 314-318.
- Choi, S.-W. and Friso, S. (2010) Epigenetics: A New Bridge between Nutrition and Health. *Advances in Nutrition: An International Review Journal*, 1, 8-16.
- 6. Aguilera, O., Fernández, A.F., Muñoz, A. and Fraga, M.F. (2010) Epigenetics and environment: a complex relationship. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, **109**, 243-251.
- 7. Robertson, K.D. (2005) DNA methylation and human disease. *Nat Rev Genet*, **6**, 597-610.
- 8. Baylin, S.B. and Ohm, J.E. (2006) Epigenetic gene silencing in cancer a mechanism for early oncogenic pathway addiction? *Nature reviews. Cancer*, **6**, 107-116.
- 9. Lu, H., Liu, X., Deng, Y. and Qing, H. (2013) DNA methylation, a hand behind neurodegenerative diseases. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, **5**, 85.
- Nilsson, E., Jansson, P.A., Perfilyev, A., Volkov, P., Pedersen, M., Svensson, M.K., Poulsen,
 P., Ribel-Madsen, R., Pedersen, N.L., Almgren, P. *et al.* (2014) Altered DNA Methylation and

Differential Expression of Genes Influencing Metabolism and Inflammation in Adipose Tissue From Subjects With Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes*, **63**, 2962-2976.

- Fu, A.Q., Genereux, D.P., Stoger, R., Laird, C.D. and Stephens, M. (2010) Statistical Inference of Transmission Fidelity of DNA Methylation Patterns over Somatic Cell Divisions in Mammals. *The annals of applied statistics*, 4, 871-892.
- Herman, J.G. and Baylin, S.B. (2003) Gene silencing in cancer in association with promoter hypermethylation. N. Engl. J. Med., 349, 2042-2054.
- Esteller, M. (2007) Epigenetic gene silencing in cancer: the DNA hypermethylome. *Human* molecular genetics, 16, R50-R59.
- 14. Jaenisch, R. and Bird, A. (2003) Epigenetic regulation of gene expression: how the genome integrates intrinsic and environmental signals. *Nature genetics*, **33 Suppl**, 245-254.
- 15. Phillips, T. (2008) The Role of Methylation in Gene Expression. *Nature Education*, **1**, 116.
- 16. Meissner, A. (2011) Guiding DNA Methylation. *Cell Stem Cell*, 9, 388-390.
- Messerschmidt, D.M., Knowles, B.B. and Solter, D. (2014) DNA methylation dynamics during epigenetic reprogramming in the germline and preimplantation embryos. *Genes & Development*, 28, 812-828.
- Li, E., Beard, C. and Jaenisch, R. (1993) Role for DNA methylation in genomic imprinting. *Nature*, 366, 362-365.
- Meissner, A., Mikkelsen, T.S., Gu, H., Wernig, M., Hanna, J., Sivachenko, A., Zhang, X., Bernstein, B.E., Nusbaum, C., Jaffe, D.B. *et al.* (2008) Genome-scale DNA methylation maps of pluripotent and differentiated cells. *Nature*, 454, 766-770.
- Jablonka, E. and Lamb, M.J. (1989) The inheritance of acquired epigenetic variations. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 139, 69-83.

- 21. Zhong, J., Agha, G. and Baccarelli, A.A. (2016) The Role of DNA Methylation in Cardiovascular Risk and Disease. *Circulation Research*, **118**, 119.
- 22. Egger, G., Liang, G., Aparicio, A. and Jones, P.A. (2004) Epigenetics in human disease and prospects for epigenetic therapy. *Nature*, **429**.
- 23. Grundberg, E., Meduri, E., Sandling, J.K., Hedman, A.K., Keildson, S., Buil, A., Busche, S., Yuan, W., Nisbet, J., Sekowska, M. *et al.* (2013) Global analysis of DNA methylation variation in adipose tissue from twins reveals links to disease-associated variants in distal regulatory elements. *American journal of human genetics*, **93**, 876-890.
- 24. Das, P.M. and Singal, R. (2004) DNA methylation and cancer. *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology*, **22**, 4632-4642.
- 25. Sánchez, D.A., Matallanas, M., Balbin, M., Centeno, I., Perez-payo, P., Canteli, M. and Martínez, P. (2013) MGMT-methylation & IDH-1-mutation as prognostic factors in highgrade gliomas. *Reports of Practical Oncology and Radiotherapy*, 18, 2.
- 26. Baylin, S.B. (2005) DNA methylation and gene silencing in cancer. *Nat Clin Pract Oncol*, **2**.
- Luczak, M.W. and Jagodzinski, P.P. (2006) The role of DNA methylation in cancer development. *Folia Histochem Cytobiol*, 44.
- Verdone, L., Caserta, M. and Mauro, E.D. (2005) Role of histone acetylation in the control of gene expression. *Biochemistry and Cell Biology*, 83, 344-353.
- Geiman, T.M. and Robertson, K.D. (2002) Chromatin remodeling, histone modifications, and DNA methylation—how does it all fit together? *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 87, 117-125.

- 30. Pakneshan, P., Szyf, M. and Rabbani, S.A. (2005) Methylation and inhibition of expression of uPA by the RAS oncogene: divergence of growth control and invasion in breast cancer cells. *Carcinogenesis*, **26**, 557-564.
- 31. Esteller, M., Hamilton, S.R., Burger, P.C., Baylin, S.B. and Herman, J.G. (1999) Inactivation of the DNA repair gene O6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase by promoter hypermethylation is a common event in primary human neoplasia. *Cancer Res.*, 59, 793-797.
- 32. Vu, T.H.C., Nguyen V.; Li, Tao; Hoffman, Andrew R. (2003) Loss of Imprinting of IGF2 Sense and Antisense Transcripts in Wilms' Tumor. *Cancer Research*, **63**, 6.
- Miyamoto, K. and Ushijima, T. (2005) Diagnostic and Therapeutic Applications of Epigenetics. *Japanese Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 35, 293-301.
- Jürgens, B., Schmitz-Dräger, B.J. and Schulz, W.A. (1996) Hypomethylation of L1 LINE Sequences Prevailing in Human Urothelial Carcinoma. *Cancer Research*, 56, 5698.
- Carnell, A.N. and Goodman, J.I. (2003) The Long (LINEs) and the Short (SINEs) of It: Altered Methylation as a Precursor to Toxicity. *Toxicological Sciences*, 75, 229-235.
- Mehta, A. and Haber, J.E. (2014) Sources of DNA Double-Strand Breaks and Models of Recombinational DNA Repair. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 6, a016428.
- Kondo, N., Michiue, H., Sakurai, Y., Tanaka, H., Nakagawa, Y., Watanabe, T., Narabayashi,
 M., Kinashi, Y., Suzuki, M., Masunaga, S.-i. *et al.* (2016) Detection of γH2AX foci in mouse
 normal brain and brain tumor after boron neutron capture therapy. *Reports of Practical Oncology*C Radiotherapy, **21**, 108-112.
- Helleday, T., Eshtad, S. and Nik-Zainal, S. (2014) Mechanisms underlying mutational signatures in human cancers. *Nat Rev Genet*, 15, 585-598.

- Vilenchik, M.M. and Knudson, A.G. (2003) Endogenous DNA double-strand breaks: Production, fidelity of repair, and induction of cancer. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **100**, 12871-12876.
- 40. Pfeiffer, P., Goedecke, W. and Obe, G. (2000) Mechanisms of DNA double-strand break repair and their potential to induce chromosomal aberrations. *Mutagenesis*, **15**, 289-302.
- 41. Tammaro, M., Liao, S., Beeharry, N. and Yan, H. (2016) DNA double-strand breaks with 5' adducts are efficiently channeled to the DNA2-mediated resection pathway. *Nucleic acids research*, **44**, 221-231.
- Karran, P. (2000) DNA double strand break repair in mammalian cells. *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development*, **10**, 144-150.
- Aguilera, A. and Gaillard, H. (2014) Transcription and Recombination: When RNA Meets DNA. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 6, a016543.
- Marín, A., Martín, M., Liñán, O., Alvarenga, F., López, M., Fernández, L., Büchser, D. and Cerezo, L. (2015) Bystander effects and radiotherapy. *Reports of Practical Oncology & Radiotherapy*, 20, 12-21.
- Jasin, M. and Rothstein, R. (2013) Repair of Strand Breaks by Homologous Recombination.
 Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 5.
- Mao, Z., Bozzella, M., Seluanov, A. and Gorbunova, V. (2008) Comparison of nonhomologous end joining and homologous recombination in human cells. *DNA repair*, 7, 1765-1771.
- 47. Lieber, M.R. (2010) The mechanism of double-strand DNA break repair by the nonhomologous DNA end-joining pathway. *Annual review of biochemistry*, **79**, 181-211.

- 48. Davis, A.J. and Chen, D.J. (2013) DNA double strand break repair via non-homologous end-joining. *Translational cancer research*, **2**, 130-143.
- Heidenreich, E., Novotny, R., Kneidinger, B., Holzmann, V. and Wintersberger, U. (2003)
 Non-homologous end joining as an important mutagenic process in cell cycle-arrested cells.
 The EMBO Journal, 22, 2274-2283.
- 50. Concetta Cuozzo, A.P., Tiziana Angrisano, Annalisa Morano, Bongyong Lee, Alba Di Pardo, Samantha Messina, Rodolfo Iuliano, Alfredo Fusco, Maria R. Santillo, Mark T. Muller, Lorenzo Chiariotti, Max E. Gottesman, Enrico V. Avvedimento. (2007) DNA Damage, Homology-Directed Repair, and DNA Methylation. *PLoS genetics*, **3**, 1144-1162.
- 51. Morano, A., Angrisano, T., Russo, G., Landi, R., Pezone, A., Bartollino, S., Zuchegna, C., Babbio, F., Bonapace, I.M., Allen, B. *et al.* (2014) Targeted DNA methylation by homologydirected repair in mammalian cells. Transcription reshapes methylation on the repaired gene. *Nucleic acids research*, **42**, 804-821.
- 52. Russo, G., Landi, R., Pezone, A., Morano, A., Zuchegna, C., Romano, A., Muller, M.T., Gottesman, M.E., Porcellini, A. and Avvedimento, E.V. (2016) DNA damage and Repair Modify DNA methylation and Chromatin Domain of the Targeted Locus: Mechanism of allele methylation polymorphism. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 33222.
- 53. Lee, B., Morano, A., Porcellini, A. and Muller, M.T. (2012) GADD45α inhibition of DNMT1 dependent DNA methylation during homology directed DNA repair. *Nucleic acids research*, 40, 2481-2493.
- 54. Seluanov, A.M., D.; Pereira-Smith O. M.; WIlson, J. H.; Gorbunova, V. (2004) DNA end joining becomes less efficient and more error-prone during cellular senescence. *PNAS*, 101, 6.

- Zhang, J., Kobert, K., Flouri, T. and Stamatakis, A. (2014) PEAR: a fast and accurate Illumina Paired-End reAd mergeR. *Bioinformatics*, **30**, 614-620.
- Schmieder, R. and Edwards, R. (2011) Quality control and preprocessing of metagenomic datasets. *Bioinformatics*, 27, 863-864.
- 57. Scala, G., Affinito, O., Palumbo, D., Florio, E., Monticelli, A., Miele, G., Chiariotti, L. and Cocozza, S. (2016) ampliMethProfiler: a pipeline for the analysis of CpG methylation profiles of targeted deep bisulfite sequenced amplicons. *BMC bioinformatics*, **17**, 484.
- Camacho, C., Coulouris, G., Avagyan, V., Ma, N., Papadopoulos, J., Bealer, K. and Madden,
 T.L. (2009) BLAST+: architecture and applications. *BMC bioinformatics*, **10**, 421.
- 59. Caporaso, J.G., Kuczynski, J., Stombaugh, J., Bittinger, K., Bushman, F.D., Costello, E.K., Fierer, N., Pena, A.G., Goodrich, J.K., Gordon, J.I. *et al.* (2010) QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. *Nature methods*, 7, 335-336.
- 60. Seluanov, A., Mao, Z. and Gorbunova, V. (2010) Analysis of DNA Double-strand Break
 (DSB) Repair in Mammalian Cells. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*.
- 61. Creusot, F., Acs, G. and Christman, J.K. (1982) Inhibition of DNA methyltransferase and induction of Friend erythroleukemia cell differentiation by 5-azacytidine and 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **257**, 2041-2048.
- Taylor, S.M. and Jones, P.A. (1982) Mechanism of action of eukaryotic DNA methyltransferase. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 162, 679-692.
- 63. Ferguson, A.T., Vertino, P.M., Spitzner, J.R., Baylin, S.B., Muller, M.T. and Davidson, N.E. (1997) Role of Estrogen Receptor Gene Demethylation and DNA Methyltransferase DNA Adduct Formation in 5-Aza-2'deoxycytidine-induced Cytotoxicity In Human Breast Cancer Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **272**, 32260-32266.
- 64. Sharma, S., Kelly, T.K. and Jones, P.A. (2010) Epigenetics in cancer. *Carcinogenesis*, **31**, 27-36.
- Kang, G.H., Lee, S., Kim, J.-S. and Jung, H.-Y. (2003) Profile of Aberrant CpG Island
 Methylation Along the Multistep Pathway of Gastric Carcinogenesis. *Lab Invest*, 83, 635-641.
- 66. Oue, N., Mitani, Y., Motoshita, J., Matsumura, S., Yoshida, K., Kuniyasu, H., Nakayama, H. and Yasui, W. (2006) Accumulation of DNA methylation is associated with tumor stage in gastric cancer. *Cancer*, **106**, 1250-1259.
- 67. Ehrlich, M. (2009) DNA hypomethylation in cancer cells. *Epigenomics*, **1**, 239-259.
- 68. Pelicano, H., Carney, D. and Huang, P. (2004) ROS stress in cancer cells and therapeutic implications. *Drug resistance updates : reviews and commentaries in antimicrobial and anticancer chemotherapy*, **7**, 97-110.
- 69. Kanai, Y. and Hirohashi, S. (2007) Alterations of DNA methylation associated with abnormalities of DNA methyltransferases in human cancers during transition from a precancerous to a malignant state. *Carcinogenesis*, **28**, 2434-2442.
- 70. Zilberman, D., Gehring, M., Tran, R.K., Ballinger, T. and Henikoff, S. (2007) Genome-wide analysis of Arabidopsis thaliana DNA methylation uncovers an interdependence between methylation and transcription. *Nature genetics*, **39**, 61-69.
- 71. Lorincz, M.C., Dickerson, D.R., Schmitt, M. and Groudine, M. (2004) Intragenic DNA methylation alters chromatin structure and elongation efficiency in mammalian cells. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, **11**, 1068-1075.
- Marur, S. and Forastiere, A.A. (2008) Head and Neck Cancer: Changing Epidemiology, Diagnosis, and Treatment. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 83, 489-501.
- Sturgis, E.M. and Cinciripini, P.M. (2007) Trends in head and neck cancer incidence in relation to smoking prevalence. *Cancer*, **110**, 1429-1435.

- Marur, S. and Forastiere, A.A. (2016) Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma: Update on Epidemiology, Diagnosis, and Treatment. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 91, 386-396.
- 75. Vigneswaran, N. and Williams, M.D. (2014) Epidemiological Trends in Head and Neck
 Cancer and Aids in Diagnosis. Oral and maxillofacial surgery clinics of North America, 26, 123-141.
- 76. Colacino, J.A., Dolinoy, D.C., Duffy, S.A., Sartor, M.A., Chepeha, D.B., Bradford, C.R., McHugh, J.B., Patel, D.A., Virani, S., Walline, H.M. *et al.* (2013) Comprehensive Analysis of DNA Methylation in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma Indicates Differences by Survival and Clinicopathologic Characteristics. *PLoS ONE*, **8**, e54742.
- 77. Fakhry, C., Westra, W.H., Li, S., Cmelak, A., Ridge, J.A., Pinto, H., Forastiere, A. and Gillison, M.L. (2008) Improved survival of patients with human papillomavirus-positive head and neck squamous cell carcinoma in a prospective clinical trial. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, **100**, 261-269.
- 78. Misawa, K., Mochizuki, D., Imai, A., Endo, S., Mima, M., Misawa, Y., Kanazawa, T., Carey, T.E. and Mineta, H. (2016) Prognostic value of aberrant promoter hypermethylation of tumor-related genes in early-stage head and neck cancer. *Oncotarget*, 7.
- 79. Magić, Z., Supić, G., Branković-Magić, M. and Jović, N. (2012) DNA Methylation in the Pathogenesis of Head and Neck Cancer.
- 80. Marsit, C.J., Christensen, B.C., Houseman, E.A., Karagas, M.R., Wrensch, M.R., Yeh, R.-F., Nelson, H.H., Wiemels, J.L., Zheng, S., Posner, M.R. *et al.* (2009) Epigenetic profiling reveals etiologically distinct patterns of DNA methylation in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Carcinogenesis*, **30**, 416-422.

- Richards, K.L., Zhang, B., Baggerly, K.A., Colella, S., Lang, J.C., Schuller, D.E. and Krahe,
 R. (2009) Genome-Wide Hypomethylation in Head and Neck Cancer Is More Pronounced
 in HPV-Negative Tumors and Is Associated with Genomic Instability. *PLoS ONE*, 4, e4941.
- 82. Sartor, M.A., Dolinoy, D.C., Jones, T.R., Colacino, J.A., Prince, M.E.P., Carey, T.E. and Rozek, L.S. (2011) Genome-wide methylation and expression differences in HPV(+) and HPV(-) squamous cell carcinoma cell lines are consistent with divergent mechanisms of carcinogenesis. *Epigenetics*, 6, 777-787.
- Demokan, S. and Dalay, N. (2011) Role of DNA methylation in head and neck cancer. *Clinical Epigenetics*, 2, 123-150.
- 84. van Kempen, P.M.W., Noorlag, R., Braunius, W.W., Stegeman, I., Willems, S.M. and Grolman, W. (2014) Differences in methylation profiles between HPV-positive and HPVnegative oropharynx squamous cell carcinoma: A systematic review. *Epigenetics*, 9, 194-203.
- 85. Leonard, S.M., Wei, W., Collins, S.I., Pereira, M., Diyaf, A., Constandinou-Williams, C., Young, L.S., Roberts, S. and Woodman, C.B. (2012) Oncogenic human papillomavirus imposes an instructive pattern of DNA methylation changes which parallel the natural history of cervical HPV infection in young women. *Carcinogenesis*, **33**, 1286-1293.
- 86. Li, L., Xu, C., Long, J., Shen, D., Zhou, W., Zhou, Q., Yang, J. and Jiang, M. (2015) E6 and E7 gene silencing results in decreased methylation of tumor suppressor genes and induces phenotype transformation of human cervical carcinoma cell lines. *Oncotarget*, 6, 23930-23943.
- Burgers, W.A., Blanchon, L., Pradhan, S., de Launoit, Y., Kouzarides, T. and Fuks, F. (2007)
 Viral oncoproteins target the DNA methyltransferases. *Oncogene*, 26, 1650-1655.
- 88. Koutsodontis, G., Tentes, I., Papakosta, P., Moustakas, A. and Kardassis, D. (2001) Sp1 plays a critical role in the transcriptional activation of the human cyclin-dependent kinase

inhibitor p21(WAF1/Cip1) gene by the p53 tumor suppressor protein. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, **276**, 29116-29125.

- Au Yeung, C.L., Tsang, W.P., Tsang, T.Y., Co, N.N., Yau, P.L. and Kwok, T.T. (2010)
 HPV-16 E6 upregulation of DNMT1 through repression of tumor suppressor p53. *Oncology* reports, 24, 1599-1604.
- 90. Kimura, H., Nakamura, T., Ogawa, T., Tanaka, S. and Shiota, K. (2003) Transcription of mouse DNA methyltransferase 1 (Dnmt1) is regulated by both E2F-Rb-HDAC-dependent and -independent pathways. *Nucleic acids research*, **31**, 3101-3113.
- 91. Abdouh, M., Zhou, S., Arena, V., Arena, M., Lazaris, A., Onerheim, R., Metrakos, P. and Arena, G.O. (2014) Transfer of malignant trait to immortalized human cells following exposure to human cancer serum. *Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research*, **33**, 86.
- 92. Hamam, D., Abdouh, M., Gao, Z.-H., Arena, V., Arena, M. and Arena, G.O. (2016) Transfer of malignant trait to BRCA1 deficient human fibroblasts following exposure to serum of cancer patients. *Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research*, **35**, 80.
- 93. Trejo-Becerril, C., Pérez-Cárdenas, E., Taja-Chayeb, L., Anker, P., Herrera-Goepfert, R., Medina-Velázquez, L.A., Hidalgo-Miranda, A., Pérez-Montiel, D., Chávez-Blanco, A., Cruz-Velázquez, J. *et al.* (2012) Cancer Progression Mediated by Horizontal Gene Transfer in an In Vivo Model. *PLOS ONE*, 7, e52754.
- 94. García-Olmo, D.C., Domínguez, C., García-Arranz, M., Anker, P., Stroun, M., García-Verdugo, J.M. and García-Olmo, D. (2010) Cell-Free Nucleic Acids Circulating in the Plasma of Colorectal Cancer Patients Induce the Oncogenic Transformation of Susceptible Cultured Cells. *Cancer Research*, **70**, 560.

- 95. Ogorevc, E., Kralj-Iglic, V. and Veranic, P. (2013) The role of extracellular vesicles in phenotypic cancer transformation. *Radiology and Oncology*, **47**, 197-205.
- Balaj, L., Lessard, R., Dai, L., Cho, Y.-J., Pomeroy, S.L., Breakefield, X.O. and Skog, J.
 (2011) Tumour microvesicles contain retrotransposon elements and amplified oncogene sequences. *Nature Communications*, 2, 180.
- 97. Abd Elmageed, Z.Y., Yang, Y., Thomas, R., Ranjan, M., Mondal, D., Moroz, K., Fang, Z., Rezk, B.M., Moparty, K., Sikka, S.C. *et al.* (2014) Neoplastic Reprogramming of Patient-Derived Adipose Stem Cells by Prostate Cancer Cell-Associated Exosomes. *STEM CELLS*, 32, 983-997.
- 98. Peinado, H., Aleckovic, M., Lavotshkin, S., Matei, I., Costa-Silva, B., Moreno-Bueno, G., Hergueta-Redondo, M., Williams, C., Garcia-Santos, G., Ghajar, C.M. *et al.* (2012) Melanoma exosomes educate bone marrow progenitor cells toward a pro-metastatic phenotype through MET. *Nat Med*, **18**, 883-891.
- Raposo, G. and Stoorvogel, W. (2013) Extracellular vesicles: Exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 200, 373.
- 100. Skog, J., Wurdinger, T., van Rijn, S., Meijer, D.H., Gainche, L., Curry, W.T., Carter, B.S., Krichevsky, A.M. and Breakefield, X.O. (2008) Glioblastoma microvesicles transport RNA and proteins that promote tumour growth and provide diagnostic biomarkers. *Nat Cell Biol*, 10, 1470-1476.
- 101. Runz, S., Keller, S., Rupp, C., Stoeck, A., Issa, Y., Koensgen, D., Mustea, A., Sehouli, J., Kristiansen, G. and Altevogt, P. Malignant ascites-derived exosomes of ovarian carcinoma patients contain CD24 and EpCAM. *Gynecologic Oncology*, **107**, 563-571.

- 102. Grange, C., Tapparo, M., Collino, F., Vitillo, L., Damasco, C., Deregibus, M.C., Tetta, C., Bussolati, B. and Camussi, G. (2011) Microvesicles Released from Human Renal Cancer Stem Cells Stimulate Angiogenesis and Formation of Lung Premetastatic Niche. *Cancer Research*, **71**, 5346.
- 103. Valadi, H., Ekstrom, K., Bossios, A., Sjostrand, M., Lee, J.J. and Lotvall, J.O. (2007) Exosome-mediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells. *Nat Cell Biol*, **9**, 654-659.
- 104. O'Connell, T.X., Horita, T.J. and Kasravi, B. (2005) Understanding and interpreting serum protein electrophoresis. *American family physician*, **71**, 105-112.
- 105. Chung, L., Moore, K., Phillips, L., Boyle, F.M., Marsh, D.J. and Baxter, R.C. (2014) Novel serum protein biomarker panel revealed by mass spectrometry and its prognostic value in breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research*, **16**, R63.
- Gao, W.-M., Kuick, R., Orchekowski, R.P., Misek, D.E., Qiu, J., Greenberg, A.K., Rom,
 W.N., Brenner, D.E., Omenn, G.S., Haab, B.B. *et al.* (2005) Distinctive serum protein
 profiles involving abundant proteins in lung cancer patients based upon antibody microarray
 analysis. *BMC Cancer*, 5, 110.
- 107. Rasouli, M., Okhovatian, A. and Enderami, A. (2005) Serum proteins profile as an indicator of malignancy: multivariate logistic regression and ROC analyses. *Clinical chemistry and laboratory medicine*, 43, 913-918.
- 108. Mar-Aguilar, F., Mendoza-Ramirez, J.A., Malagon-Santiago, I., Espino-Silva, P.K., Santuario-Facio, S.K., Ruiz-Flores, P., Rodriguez-Padilla, C. and Resendez-Perez, D. (2013) Serum circulating microRNA profiling for identification of potential breast cancer biomarkers. *Disease markers*, 34, 163-169.

- 109. Reid, G., Kirschner, M.B. and van Zandwijk, N. (2011) Circulating microRNAs: Association with disease and potential use as biomarkers. *Critical reviews in oncology/hematology*, **80**, 193-208.
- Tsui, N.B., Ng, E.K. and Lo, Y.M. (2006) Molecular analysis of circulating RNA in plasma.
 Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.), 336, 123-134.
- Herceg, Z. and Hainaut, P. (2007) Genetic and epigenetic alterations as biomarkers for cancer detection, diagnosis and prognosis. *Molecular Oncology*, 1, 26-41.
- Lavon, I., Refael, M., Zelikovitch, B., Shalom, E. and Siegal, T. (2010) Serum DNA can define tumor-specific genetic and epigenetic markers in gliomas of various grades. *Neuro-Oncology*, **12**, 173-180.
- 113. Wong, I.H.N., Johnson, P.J., Lai, P.B.S., Lau, W.Y. and Lo, Y.M.D. (2000) Tumor-Derived Epigenetic Changes in the Plasma and Serum of Liver Cancer Patients: Implications for Cancer Detection and Monitoring. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, **906**, 102-105.
- 114. Allen, B., Pezone, A., Porcellini, A., Muller, M.T. and Masternak, M.M. (2017) Non-Homologous end joining induced alterations in DNA methylation: A source of permanent epigenetic change. *Oncotarget*.
- 115. Martinez, B.V., Dhahbi, J.M., Lopez, Y.O.N., Lamperska, K., Golusinski, P., Luczewski, L., Kolenda, T., Atamna, H., Spindler, S.R., Golusinski, W. *et al.* (2015) Circulating small non coding RNA signature in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncotarget*, **6**, 19246-19263.
- 116. Feng, Y.J., Tian, R., You, A.G., Wang, J., Wu, Y.J., Wang, W., Zhou, A.Y., Wei, X.L., He, Q.D., Feng, X. *et al.* (2013) [Expression and significance of DNA methyltransferase in sera of patients with lung cancer]. *Zhonghua yi xue za zhi*, **93**, 3822-3825.

- 117. Yan, W.T., X.; Wang, R. (2016) Assessment value of serum HDAC1 and DNMT1 levels for clincial pathological staging and malignant molecule expression in patients with NSCLC. *Journal of Hainan Medical University*, 22, 4.
- 118. Smith, I.M., Mydlarz, W.K., Mithani, S.K. and Califano, J.A. (2007) DNA global hypomethylation in squamous cell head and neck cancer associated with smoking, alcohol consumption and stage. *International Journal of Cancer*, **121**, 1724-1728.
- 119. Zeilinger, S., Kühnel, B., Klopp, N., Baurecht, H., Kleinschmidt, A., Gieger, C., Weidinger,
 S., Lattka, E., Adamski, J., Peters, A. *et al.* (2013) Tobacco Smoking Leads to Extensive
 Genome-Wide Changes in DNA Methylation. *PLoS ONE*, 8, e63812.
- 120. Nielsen, S.S., Checkoway, H., Butler, R.A., Nelson, H.H., Farin, F.M., Longstreth, W.T., Franklin, G.M., Swanson, P.D. and Kelsey, K.T. (2012) LINE-1 DNA Methylation, Smoking and Risk of Parkinson's Disease. *Journal of Parkinson's disease*, 2, 303-308.
- Szyf, M., Pakneshan, P. and Rabbani, S.A. (2004) DNA demethylation and cancer: therapeutic implications. *Cancer Letters*, 211, 133-143.
- Song, C.-X. and He, C. (2012) Balance of DNA methylation and demethylation in cancer development. *Genome Biology*, **13**, 173.
- Scourzic, L., Mouly, E. and Bernard, O.A. (2015) TET proteins and the control of cytosine demethylation in cancer. *Genome Medicine*, 7, 9.
- 124. Huang, Y. and Rao, A. (2014) Connections between TET proteins and aberrant DNA modification in cancer. *Trends in genetics : TIG*, **30**, 464-474.
- Rasmussen, K.D. and Helin, K. (2016) Role of TET enzymes in DNA methylation, development, and cancer. *Genes & Development*, **30**, 733-750.

- 126. Cervoni, N., Detich, N., Seo, S.-b., Chakravarti, D. and Szyf, M. (2002) The Oncoprotein Set/TAF-1β, an Inhibitor of Histone Acetyltransferase, Inhibits Active Demethylation of DNA, Integrating DNA Methylation and Transcriptional Silencing. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277, 25026-25031.
- Cervoni, N. and Szyf, M. (2001) Demethylase Activity Is Directed by Histone Acetylation. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 276, 40778-40787.
- Szyf, M. (2008) The role of dna hypermethylation and demethylation in cancer and cancer therapy. *Current Oncology*, **15**, 72-75.
- 129. Gulyaeva, L.F. and Kushlinskiy, N.E. (2016) Regulatory mechanisms of microRNA expression. *Journal of Translational Medicine*, **14**, 143.
- Krol, J., Loedige, I. and Filipowicz, W. (2010) The widespread regulation of microRNA biogenesis, function and decay. *Nat Rev Genet*, **11**, 597-610.
- 131. Chuang, J.C. and Jones, P.A. (2007) Epigenetics and MicroRNAs. Pediatr Res, 61, 24R-29R.
- Sato, F., Tsuchiya, S., Meltzer, S.J. and Shimizu, K. (2011) MicroRNAs and epigenetics. *The FEBS journal*, 278, 1598-1609.
- MacFarlane, L.-A. and Murphy, P.R. (2010) MicroRNA: Biogenesis, Function and Role in Cancer. *Current Genomics*, **11**, 537-561.
- 134. Suzuki, H., Maruyama, R., Yamamoto, E. and Kai, M. (2013) Epigenetic alteration and microRNA dysregulation in cancer. *Frontiers in Genetics*, **4**, 258.
- 135. Cimmino, A., Calin, G.A., Fabbri, M., Iorio, M.V., Ferracin, M., Shimizu, M., Wojcik, S.E., Aqeilan, R.I., Zupo, S., Dono, M. *et al.* (2005) miR-15 and miR-16 induce apoptosis by targeting BCL2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **102**, 13944-13949.

- 136. Johnson, S.M., Grosshans, H., Shingara, J., Byrom, M., Jarvis, R., Cheng, A., Labourier, E., Reinert, K.L., Brown, D. and Slack, F.J. (2005) RAS Is Regulated by the let-7 MicroRNA Family. *Cell*, **120**, 635-647.
- 137. Saito, Y., Liang, G., Egger, G., Friedman, J.M., Chuang, J.C., Coetzee, G.A. and Jones, P.A.
 (2006) Specific activation of microRNA-127 with downregulation of the proto-oncogene
 BCL6 by chromatin-modifying drugs in human cancer cells. *Cancer cell*, 9, 435-443.
- Scott, G.K., Mattie, M.D., Berger, C.E., Benz, S.C. and Benz, C.C. (2006) Rapid Alteration of MicroRNA Levels by Histone Deacetylase Inhibition. *Cancer Research*, 66, 1277-1281.
- 139. Lee, E.M., Shin, S., Cha, H.J., Yoon, Y., Bae, S., Jung, J.H., Lee, S.M., Lee, S.J., Park, I.C., Jin, Y.W. *et al.* (2009) Suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid (SAHA) changes microRNA expression profiles in A549 human non-small cell lung cancer cells. *International journal of molecular medicine*, 24, 45-50.
- 140. Zhou, Q., Long, L., Zhou, T., Tian, J. and Zhou, B. (2016) Demethylation of MicroRNA 124a Genes Attenuated Proliferation of Rheumatoid Arthritis Derived Fibroblast-Like
 Synoviocytes and Synthesis of Tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha. *PLoS One*, **11**, e0164207.
- 141. Lujambio, A., Ropero, S., Ballestar, E., Fraga, M.F., Cerrato, C., Setién, F., Casado, S., Suarez-Gauthier, A., Sanchez-Cespedes, M., Gitt, A. *et al.* (2007) Genetic Unmasking of an Epigenetically Silenced microRNA in Human Cancer Cells. *Cancer Research*, 67, 1424.
- 142. Fabbri, M., Garzon, R., Cimmino, A., Liu, Z., Zanesi, N., Callegari, E., Liu, S., Alder, H., Costinean, S., Fernandez-Cymering, C. *et al.* (2007) MicroRNA-29 family reverts aberrant methylation in lung cancer by targeting DNA methyltransferases 3A and 3B. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **104**, 15805-15810.

- 143. Friedman, J.M., Liang, G., Liu, C.C., Wolff, E.M., Tsai, Y.C., Ye, W., Zhou, X. and Jones,
 P.A. (2009) The putative tumor suppressor microRNA-101 modulates the cancer epigenome by repressing the polycomb group protein EZH2. *Cancer Res*, 69, 2623-2629.
- 144. Leuenberger, C., Schuoler, C., Bye, H., Mignan, C., Rechsteiner, T., Hillinger, S., Opitz, I., Marsland, B., Faiz, A., Hiemstra, P.S. *et al.* (2016) MicroRNA-223 controls the expression of histone deacetylase 2: a novel axis in COPD. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*, **94**, 725-734.
- 145. Ramdas, L., Giri, U., Ashorn, C., Coombes, K.R., el-Naggar, A., Ang, K.K. and Story, M.D. (2009) miRNA expression profiles in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma and adjacent normal tissue. *Head & neck*, **31**, 642-654.
- 146. Summerer, I., Unger, K., Braselmann, H., Schuettrumpf, L., Maihoefer, C., Baumeister, P., Kirchner, T., Niyazi, M., Sage, E., Specht, H.M. *et al.* (2015) Circulating microRNAs as prognostic therapy biomarkers in head and neck cancer patients. *British Journal of Cancer*, **113**, 76-82.
- 147. Wong, N., Khwaja, S.S., Baker, C.M., Gay, H.A., Thorstad, W.L., Daly, M.D., Lewis, J.S. and Wang, X. (2016) Prognostic microRNA signatures derived from The Cancer Genome Atlas for head and neck squamous cell carcinomas. *Cancer Medicine*, 5, 1619-1628.
- 148. Rueda, A., Barturen, G., Lebron, R., Gomez-Martin, C., Alganza, A., Oliver, J.L. and Hackenberg, M. (2015) sRNAtoolbox: an integrated collection of small RNA research tools. *Nucleic acids research*, 43, W467-473.
- Robinson, M.D., McCarthy, D.J. and Smyth, G.K. (2010) edgeR: a Bioconductor package for differential expression analysis of digital gene expression data. *Bioinformatics*, 26, 139-140.
- Anders, S. and Huber, W. (2010) Differential expression analysis for sequence count data. *Genome Biology*, **11**, R106.

- 151. Kozomara, A. and Griffiths-Jones, S. (2011) miRBase: integrating microRNA annotation and deep-sequencing data. *Nucleic acids research*, **39**, D152-D157.
- Kanehisa, M. and Goto, S. (2000) KEGG: kyoto encyclopedia of genes and genomes. *Nucleic acids research*, 28, 27-30.
- 153. Kanehisa, M., Sato, Y., Kawashima, M., Furumichi, M. and Tanabe, M. (2016) KEGG as a reference resource for gene and protein annotation. *Nucleic acids research*, **44**, D457-462.
- 154. Vlachos, I.S., Zagganas, K., Paraskevopoulou, M.D., Georgakilas, G., Karagkouni, D.,
 Vergoulis, T., Dalamagas, T. and Hatzigeorgiou, A.G. (2015) DIANA-miRPath v3.0:
 deciphering microRNA function with experimental support. *Nucleic acids research*, 43, W460-W466.
- 155. Louis, A., Bartke, A. and Masternak, M.M. (2010) Effects of Growth Hormone and Thyroxine Replacement Therapy on Insulin Signaling in Ames Dwarf Mice. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, **65A**, 344-352.
- Denaro, N., Lo Nigro, C., Natoli, G., Russi, E.G., Adamo, V. and Merlano, M.C. (2011) The Role of p53 and MDM2 in Head and Neck Cancer. *ISRN Otolaryngology*, 2011, 931813.
- Suh, S.-S., Yoo, J.Y., Nuovo, G.J., Jeon, Y.-J., Kim, S., Lee, T.J., Kim, T., Bakàcs, A., Alder,
 H., Kaur, B. et al. (2012) MicroRNAs/TP53 feedback circuitry in glioblastoma multiforme.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 109, 5316-5321.
- Jiang, X., Chen, X., Chen, L., Ma, Y., Zhou, L., Qi, Q., Liu, Y., Zhang, S., Luo, J. and Zhou,
 X. (2015) Upregulation of the miR-212/132 cluster suppresses proliferation of human lung
 cancer cells. Oncology reports, 33, 705-712.

- Hauser, B., Zhao, Y., Pang, X., Ling, Z., Myers, E., Wang, P., Califano, J. and Gu, X. (2015)
 Functions of MiRNA-128 on the Regulation of Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma
 Growth and Apoptosis. *PLoS ONE*, **10**, e0116321.
- Mishra, P.J., Mishra, P.J. and Merlino, G. (2016) Integrated Genomics Identifies miR 32/MCL-1 Pathway as a Critical Driver of Melanomagenesis: Implications for miR Replacement and Combination Therapy. *PLOS ONE*, **11**, e0165102.
- 161. Valeri, N., Braconi, C., Gasparini, P., Murgia, C., Lampis, A., Paulus-Hock, V., Hart, Jonathan R., Ueno, L., Grivennikov, Sergei I., Lovat, F. *et al.* (2014) MicroRNA-135b Promotes Cancer Progression by Acting as a Downstream Effector of Oncogenic Pathways in Colon Cancer. *Cancer cell*, **25**, 469-483.
- 162. Yi, J. and Luo, J. (2010) SIRT1 and p53, effect on cancer, senescence and beyond. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*, **1804**, 1684-1689.